TECHNISCHE UNIVERSITÄT DARMSTADT Fachgebiet Simulation und Systemoptimierung (SIM)

User's Guide for

DIRCOL

A Direct Collocation Method for the Numerical Solution of Optimal Control Problems

Oskar von Stryk

Version 2.1 of November 1999

Abstract

This report forms the user's guide for Version 2.1 of **DIRCOL**, a set of Fortran subroutines designed to solve optimal control problems of systems described by (first order) ordinary differential equations subject to general inequality or equality constraints on the control and/or state variables. Discontinuities in the right hand side of the differential equations can be treated as well as multi-phase problems. The user must provide subroutines that define the objective and the constraint functions. Subroutines for derivatives of the problem functions are not required.

DIRCOL is a direct collocation method [39]: By a discretization of state and control variables the infinite dimensional optimal control problem is transcribed into a sequence of (finite dimensional) nonlinearly constrained optimization problems (NLPs). Optimal Control Theory and adjoint differential equations are not required in order to apply the algorithm. The NLPs are solved either by the dense Sequential Quadratic Programming (SQP) method NPSOL (Gill, Murray, Saunders, and Wright [12]) or by the sparse SQP method SNOPT (Gill, Murray, and Saunders [11], Version 5.3-4 or higher).

DIRCOL also computes reliable estimates of the adjoint variables, the multiplier functions of state constraints and the switching structure. Therefore the method can conveniently be combined with an indirect method such as multiple shooting [40].

Supplementary programs are provided for supporting a visualization of the numerical results.

A Note for Potential Users

The user's guide does **not** replace courses in Optimal Control Theory and Numerical Analysis. As any other numerical method for optimal control, *DIRCOL* will be used most efficiently by a user having background knowledge in Optimal Control Theory and Numerical Analysis, especially, numerical solution of ordinary differential equations and numerical nonlinearly constrained optimization.

Bugs and Comments

Please report bugs or comments to stryk@informatik.tu-darmstadt.de. Also any reports on experiences (good or bad), suggestions for improvements or complaints concerning the program or this user's guide are wellcome!

Address

Technische Universität Darmstadt Fachbereich Informatik (Department of Computer Science) Fachgebiet Simulation und Systemoptimierung (Simulation and Systems Optimization Group) Prof. Dr. Oskar von Stryk D-64283 Darmstadt, Germany Phone: Germany + 6151-16-4899 Fax: Germany + 6151-16-6648 Electronic-mail: stryk@informatik.tu-darmstadt.de World Wide Web: http://www.sim.informatik.tu-darmstadt.de/sw/dircol/

DIRCOL License Terms and Conditions

The software **DIRCOL** is **not** in the public domain. However, it is available for license subject to the following terms.

- (i) The "Software", below, refers to **DIRCOL** (in either source-code, object-code or executable-code form) which includes all supplementary software provided, "work based on the Software" means a work based on either the Software, on part of the Software, or on any derivative work of the Software under copyright law: that is, a work containing all or a portion of **DIRCOL**, either verbatim or with modifications. Each licensee is addressed as "you" or "Licensee".
- (ii) This license applies to you only if you are a member of a noncommercial and academic institution, e.g., a university. The license expires as soon as you are no longer a member of this institution.

The Software may be used for for academic purposes only, such as research. You are not allowed to you use it for any commercial purposes.

- (iii) All copyrights are reserved by Technische Universität Darmstadt, the Fachgebiet Simulation und Systemoptimierung, and the authors except those expressly granted to the Licensee herein.
- (iv) Licensee shall use the Software solely within Licensee's organization. Permission to copy the Software for use within Licensee's organization is hereby granted to Licensee, provided that the copyright notice and this license accompany all such copies. Licensee shall not permit the Software, or source code generated using the Software, to be used by persons outside Licensee's organization or for the benefit of third parties. Licensee shall not have the right to relicense or sell the Software or to transfer or assign the Software or source code generated using the Software.
- (v) If you modify a copy or copies of the Software or any portion of it, thus forming a work based on the Software, and make and/or distribute copies of such work within your organization, you must meet the following conditions:
 - a) You must cause the modified Software to carry prominent notices stating that you changed specified portions of the Software.
 - b) If you make a copy of the Software (modified or verbatim) for use within your organization it must include the copyright notice and this license.
- (vi) Neither Technische Universität Darmstadt, the Fachgebiet Simulation und Systemoptimierung, nor any of their employees make any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed and covered by a license granted under this license agreement, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights.
- (vii) In no event will Technische Universität Darmstadt, the Fachgebiet Simulation und Systemoptimierung, nor any of their employees be liable for any damages, including direct, incidental, special, or consequential damages resulting from exercise of this license agreement or the use of the licensed software.
- (viii) Licensee agrees to acknowledge use of the Software in any document referencing work based on the Software, such as published research.

Also, you are to notify Technische Universität Darmstadt, Fachgebiet Simulation und Systemoptimierung, of published documents referencing work based on the software, and supply a copy of the document to Technische Universität Darmstadt, Fachgebiet Simulation und Systemoptimierung.

Contents

Ał	ostrac	t		i
D	IRCC	L Lice	nse Terms and Conditions	ii
1	Pur	oose		1
	1.1	Basic	optimal control problem	1
	1.2	Genera	al problem formulation	2
		1.2.1	Objective	4
		1.2.2	Differential equations	5
		1.2.3	Conditions at initial, final and switching times	6
			1.2.3.1 Explicit formulation	6
			1.2.3.1.1 Explicit formulation of the first kind	6
			1.2.3.1.2 Explicit formulation of the second kind	7
			1.2.3.2 Implicit formulation	7
		1.2.4	Inequality constraints	8
			1.2.4.1 Upper and lower bounds	8
			1.2.4.2 Nonlinear inequality constraints	9
		1.2.5	Equality constraints	9
	1.3	Other	problem formulations	10
		1.3.1	Bolza and Lagrange-type objectives	10
		1.3.2	Integral-type constraints	10
		1.3.3	Min-max objectives	11
		1.3.4	Higher order differential equations	11
		1.3.5	DAEs and implicit differential equations	12
2	Exa	mple Pı	coblems	13
	2.1	Survey	of the example problems	13
	2.2	A min	imum energy problem	15
		2.2.1	Problem description	15
		2.2.2	minimum_energy: the standard formulation	16
		2.2.3	minimum_energy_demo: formulation for demonstration	17
	2.3	One-di	imensional ascent of a rocket	18
		2.3.1	Problem description	18
		2.3.2	onedim_rocket: the standard formulation	19
		2.3.3	onedim_rocket_demo: formulation for demonstration	20
	2.4	Cataly	st mixing	21
		2.4.1	Problem description	21
		2.4.2	catalyst_mixing_ode: the ODE formulation	22
		2.4.3	catalyst_mixing_dae: the DAE formulation	23
	2.5	Pendu	lum	25
		2.5.1	Problem description	25
		2.5.2	pendulum: the standard formulation	26
	2.6	Minim	um noise design of an oscillator	28
		2.6.1	Problem description	28
		2.6.2	oscillator: the standard formulation	29
	2.7	Optim	al path tracking for a simple robot	31

		2.7.1	Problem of	lescriptio	n				31
		2.7.2	robot_i	2: the sta	andard formulation				31
	2.8	Abort l	anding in t	he preser	nce of a windshear				33
		2.8.1	Problem of	lescriptio	n				33
		2.8.2	windshe	ear: the	standard formulation				36
	2.9	Optima	al point-to-	point traj	ectories of a 3-d.o.f. industrial robo	t			38
		2.9.1	Minimum	time traj	ectory: problem description				38
		2.9.2	manuted		um_time: the standard formulation	ı			38
		2.9.3	Minimum	energy t	rajectory: problem description				38
		2.9.4	manuted	c_minim	um_energy: the standard formula	tion			38
	2.10	Referen	nces to oth	er applica	ations of <i>DIRCOL</i>			• •	39
3	Brie	f Descri	ption of th	e Algori	thm				40
	3.1	Discret	ization .						40
	3.2	Nonlin	ear optimiz	zation .					44
		3.2.1	First orde	r optimal	ity conditions				44
		3.2.2	Brief desc	cription o	f SQP methods				45
		3.2.3	Terminati	on criteri	a of NPSOL				46
		3.2.4	Terminati	on criteri	a of SNOPT				46
	3.3	Accura	cy checks	and grid	refinement				47
		3.3.1	Objective	and optim	mality error				47
		3.3.2	Errors in	the differ	ential equations			• •	48
		3.3.3	Errors in	the nonli	near constraints				49
		3.3.4	Grid refin	ement .					49
		3.3.5	Movable	grid poin	ts				49
	3.4	Flow c	hart of <i>DI</i>	RCOL .					51
	3.5	Estima	tes of adjoi	int variab	les			• •	53
4	How	to Use	DIRCOL						54
	4.1	Prepari	ng the pro	olem					54
		4.1.1	Formulati	on of the	optimal control problem				54
		4.1.2	Additiona	l box cor	istraints on x, u, p , and $E \ldots \ldots$				54
		4.1.3	Scaling of	f variable	s and functions				55
			4.1.3.1	Why sca	ling can be important				55
			4.1.3.2	How sca	ling by linear transformations does e	effect	the p	rob-	
				lem					55
			4.	1.3.2.1	Scaling of x , u and t_f				55
			4.	1.3.2.2	Scaling of the objective Φ				56
			4.	1.3.2.3	Scaling of the nonlinear constraint	funct	ions	g ,	
					h, and r				57
			4.1.3.3	Availabl	e options for scaling				58
	4.2	User-su	applied sub	oroutines	and input files				59
		4.2.1	Input files						60
			4.2.1.1	Input file	e DATDIM				60
			4.2.1.2	Input file	DATLIM				68
			4.2.1.3	Input file	e DATGIT (optional)				71
			4.2.1.4	Input file	e DATSKA (optional)				72
			4.2.1.5	Input file	es GDATX and GDATU (optional)				74

	4.2.2	Subroutines		75
		4.2.2.1 Subroutine DIRCOM for initializing user-s	supplied Com-	
		mon blocks		76
		4.2.2.2 Subroutine USRDEQ for the differential eq	[uations $\dot{x} = f(.)$]) 77
		4.2.2.3 Subroutine USROBJ for the objective Φ		78
		4.2.2.4 Subroutine USRNBC for the nonlinear bou	ndary and switch	1-
		ing conditions		79
		4.2.2.5 Subroutine USRNIC for the nonlinear ineq	uality constraints	8
		$g(x,u,p,t) \geq 0$		81
		4.2.2.6 Subroutine USRNEC for the nonlinear equa	ality constraints	
		h(x,u,p,t)=0		82
		4.2.2.7 Subroutine USRSTV for the initial estimate	ites of x , u , p ,	
		and E		83
4.3	Output	t files		85
	4.3.1	Output file DATRES for a résumé and protocol of the	e optimization.	85
	4.3.2	Output file DATGIT for the (normalized) grid point	nts of the dis-	
		cretization		86
	4.3.3	Output file DATSKA for the linear transformations us	sed for internal	
		scaling		86
	4.3.4	Output file GDATX for the state approximation x_{app}		87
	4.3.5	Output file GDATU for the control approximations <i>u</i>	ι_{app}, p	87
	4.3.6	Output file GDATD for the computed local error esti	mates	87
	4.3.7	Output file GDATL for the estimates λ_{app} of adjoint	variables	87
	4.3.8	Output file GDATM for the estimates η_{app} of mult	ipliers of con-	
		straints		87
4.4	The fire	rst approximation of the solution		88
	4.4.1	Preliminaries and first steps using <i>DIRCOL</i>		88
		4.4.1.1 Understanding the example problems		88
		4.4.1.2 Formulating and implementing the problem	n to be solved .	88
		4.4.1.3 Testing the initial estimates of x, u, p , and	\mathbf{E}	89
		4.4.1.4 Checking the internal dimensions		90
	4.4.2	The first optimization run and the information param	eter IFAIL	91
		4.4.2.1 Interpreting the result of the call to NPSOI	□·······	91
		4.4.2.2 Interpreting the result of the call to SNOP	ſ	92
	4.4.3	Interpreting the printed output of the SQP method .		93
		4.4.3.1 Printed output of NPSOL		93
	4 4 4	4.4.3.2 Printed output of SNOP1	· · · · · · · · · · ·	94
	4.4.4	what can go wrong and why and now to resol	ve it	95
		4.4.4.1 Check points for troubleshooting		95
		4.4.4.2 Additional features: feasibility phase and	i variable grid	07
		points	· · · · · · · · · · ·	97
15	Immer	4.4.4.5 Tabular data and finite difference gradient	approximations	78 00
4.J 1 6	Vigueli	ization of results		99 100
4.0		Drogrom DCNU: Visualization using Couplet		100
	4.0.1	Program DCP AE: Visualization using the LPZ area		102
	4.0.2	Subrouting USPECN for visualizing user defined for	nes notary	103
17	4.0.3 Advor	ced features, supplementary programs		104
4./	nuvalle	con realures, supprementary programs		100

		4.7.1 4.7.2 4.7.3	Optimizing the switching structure of inequality constraints Subroutines DIROLDX, -U, -L for reading from files GDATX, -U, -T Program DIRPATCH for patching several GDATX (or GDATU)	106 L107
		4.7.4	files into a single one	108
			state constrained subarcs	109
Re	feren	ces		110
A	Inst	alling D	DIRCOL on local systems and hardware	115
	A.1	Systen	n requirements	115
	A.2	Installi	ing the DIRCOL files	116
	A.3	Systen	n dependent constants and subroutines	117
		A.3.1	Machine constants and input/output units	117
		A.3.2	Environment variables, compilers and paths	117
		A.3.3	Time and date	118
	A.4	Installi	ing and linking the SQP method(s)	119
		A.4.1	Both SNOPT and NPSOL source codes available	119
			A.4.1.1 Changes in the NPSOL installation	119
			A.4.1.2 Changes in the SNOPT installation	121
		A.4.2	Using the NAG version E04UCF of NPSOL	122
		A.4.3	Only NPSOL (or E04UCF) available, SNOPT not available	123
		A.4.4	Only SNOPT available, NPSOL (or E04UCF) not available	123
		A.4.5	Linking and calling both SNOPT and NPOPT	124
	A.5	Tailori	ng the internal dimensions of DIRCOL	
		(the fil	edircol.h)	125
	A.6	Compi	ling the source code of <i>DIRCOL</i>	125
В	Run	ning Di	IRCOL	126
	B .1	Runnii	ng the example problems	127
	B.2	Prepar	ing a new problem	128
С	Noti	fyable o	changes to earlier versions of DIRCOL	129

List of Tables

2.1	Dimensions of the example problems.	13
4.1	Survey of the user-supplied input files of DIRCOL .	60
4.2	Survey of the user-supplied (problem dependent) subroutines of DIRCOL ,	
	DGRAF, DGNU, and DIRCAD (provided in file user.f)	75
4.3	Survey of the output files of DIRCOL	85
4.4	Survey of the problem dependent subroutines and input files of DGNU and	
	DGRAF	101

List of Figures

1.1	A problem with $m_1 = 3$ phases and $m = 4$ events	2
2.1	Optimal state $x(t)$ of the minimum energy problem in the case of an upper	
	bound of $l = 1/9 = 0.1111$	15
2.2	The one-dimensional ascent of a simple rocket.	18
2.3	DIRCOL solution of the catalyst mixing problem for 51 equistant grid	
	points	24
2.4	State variables of the pendulum.	25
2.5	DIRCOL solution to the pendulum problem for 51 equistant grid points	27
2.6	Equivalent circuit of the van-der-Pol-oscillator.	28
2.7	History of the altitude $h(t)$ of the passenger aircraft versus range $x(t)$	
	(computed solutions of $DIRCOL$ (-·-·-) and multiple shooting	
	()) [39]	33
2.8	Horizontal and vertical components of the wind velocity	35
3.1	Grid points (t_k^i) , $k = 1, \ldots, n_{G,i}$, $i = 1, 2, 3$, of the discretization of a	
	problem with three phases.	40
3.2	Discretization of control and state variables by piecewise polynomial func-	
	tions	41
3.3	An example of the defects $d(\tau)$ of the differential equations	48
3.4	Flow chart of DIRCOL	51
4.1	User-supplied subroutines and input files of DIRCOL	59

New!!

Significant changes as well as new options in both the program and the user's guide newly available with Versions 2.0 and 2.1 when compared to Versions 1.2 and 1.3 are emphasized in the text by a mark $\boxed{New!!}$ at the left or right margin of the corresponding page of the user's guide.

1 Purpose

DIRCOL is a collection of Fortran 77 subroutines for solving *optimal control problems*. The code is supplied with a main program. To tackle an optimal control problem numerically using **DIRCOL**, already prepared problem dependent subroutines and input files can be used (see Section 4.2 for details).

Before the general description of optimal control problems treatable by the algorithm is given in Section 1.2, a basic problem description in Section 1.1 introduces the problem statement.

1.1 Basic optimal control problem

Find the control variable u(t), the control (or design) parameter p, and the possibly free final time t_f that minimize the functional (i.e., the objective or the performance index)

$$J[u, t_f] = \Phi(x(t_f), t_f) \tag{1.1}$$

subject to the state equation

$$\dot{x}(t) = \frac{\mathrm{d}x(t)}{\mathrm{d}t} = f(x(t), u(t), p, t), \quad t_0 \le t \le t_f,$$
(1.2)

where the initial time t_0 is given and fixed. The function f is called the *right hand side* of the differential equations.

The state variable x(t) has to satisfy initial and final (terminal) conditions, i. e., conditions at initial and final time,

$$x(t_0) = x_0, \quad x(t_f) = x_f.$$
 (1.3)

An inequality constraint on the state variable (state constraint)

$$g(x(t)) \ge 0 \tag{1.4}$$

or a control constraint

$$g(x(t), u(t)) \geq 0 \tag{1.5}$$

may also have to be satisfied for all $t \in [t_0, t_f]$.

1.2 General problem formulation

In the general problem formulation, piecewise defined right hand sides or constraints can be treated by *switching points* t_S that may be free or fixed. Then the whole time interval can be splitted up into several *phases*. The phases are connected by phase connecting conditions imposed on the left and right side limits of the state variables at the switching point and on the switching point itself.



Figure 1.1: A problem with $m_1 = 3$ phases and m = 4 events.

For example, consider a problem with three phases as depicted in Figure 1.1 and a piecewise defined right hand side $f^i(x(t), u(t), p, t)$, i = 1, 2, 3. The switching points $t_{S,1}$ and $t_{S,2}$ and the initial and final times can be collected into a vector of m events E by $E_1 = t_0$, $E_2 = t_{S,1}$, $E_3 = t_{S,2}$, $E_4 = t_f$. In this example, there are m = 4 events, $m_1 := m - 1 = 3$ phases, and m - 2 = 2 switching points. In general, the vector of events reads as

$$E := (E_1, E_2, \dots, E_{m-1}, E_m)$$

:= $(t_0, t_{S,1}, \dots, t_{S,m-2}, t_f).$ (1.6)

Hint: Use problem formulations with a single phase $[E_1, E_m] = [t_0, t_f]$, $m = 2, m_1 = 1$, whenever possible! Introducing switching points complicates the problem formulation and increases the possibility of errors by the user in the correct problem programming and use of **DIRCOL** enormously. Using multi-phase problem formulations is only recommended to really advanced users.

Notation: For the general problem formulation, the following **definitions** and **notations** are used

$$x(t) = \begin{pmatrix} x_1(t) \\ \dots \\ x_{n_X}(t) \end{pmatrix}, \quad u(t) = \begin{pmatrix} u_1(t) \\ \dots \\ u_{l_U}(t) \end{pmatrix}, \quad p = \begin{pmatrix} p_1 \\ \dots \\ p_{l_P} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Constant controls p (so-called *control parameters* or *design parameters*) are treated separately from the time dependent variables u in the general problem formulation.

$[t_0, t_f]$:	the time interval considered: $t_0 < t_f, [t_0, t_f] \subset \mathbb{R}$
t_0	:	the fixed initial time
t_{f}	:	the fixed or free final time
x, x(t)	:	the state variables, $x: [t_0, t_f] \to \mathbb{R}^{n_X}$
$u, \ u(t)$:	the control variables, $u: [t_0, t_f] \to \mathbb{R}^{l_U}$
p	:	the control (or design) parameters, $p \in \mathbb{R}^{l_P}$
E	:	the <i>m</i> events: $E_1 := t_0, \ldots, E_m := t_f$
n_X	:	number of state variables $(n_X \ge 1)$
l_U	:	number of control variables $(l_U \ge 0)$
l_P	:	number of control parameters $(l_P \ge 0)$
m	:	number of events $(m \ge 2)$
m_1	:	$m_1 := m-1 \ge 1$ is the total number of phases $[E_i, E_{i+1}], i = 1, \dots, m_1$
Φ	:	the real valued objective function (to be minimized)
f_{\perp}	:	the right hand side of the differential equations $\dot{x}(t) = f(x(t), u(t), p, t)$
f^i	:	the right hand side of the differential equations $\dot{x}(t) = f^i(x(t), u(t), p, t)$
		in the <i>i</i> -th phase: $E_i \leq t \leq E_{i+1}, i \in \{1, \dots, m_1\}$
g_{\downarrow}	:	all nonlinear inequality constraints $g(x(t), u(t), p, t) \ge 0$
g^i	:	all nonlinear inequality constraints $g^i(x(t), u(t), p, t) \ge 0$ in the <i>i</i> -th
		phase: $E_i \le t \le E_{i+1}, i \in \{1,, m_1\}$
g_k^i	:	the k-th nonlinear inequality constraint $g_k^i(.) \ge 0$ in the i-th phase
$n_{g,nln,i}$:	the number of nonlinear inequality constraints $g_k^i(.) \ge 0$,
		$k = 1, \ldots, n_{g,nln,i}$, in the <i>i</i> -th phase, $i = 1, \ldots, m_1, (n_{g,nln,i} \ge 0)$
h_{\perp}	:	all nonlinear equality constraints $h(x(t), u(t), p, t) = 0$
h^i	:	all nonlinear equality constraints $h^i(x(t), u(t), p, t) = 0$ in the <i>i</i> -th phase:
_ ;		$E_i \le t \le E_{i+1}, i \in \{1, \dots, m_1\}$
h_k^i	:	the k-th nonlinear equality constraint $h_k^i(.) = 0$ in the i-th phase
$n_{h,nln,i}$:	the number of nonlinear equality constraints $h_k^i = 0, k = 1,, n_{h,nln,i}$,
		in the <i>i</i> -th phase, $i = 1,, m_1$ $(n_{h,nln,i} \ge 0)$
r^i	:	the implicit boundary or phase connecting (i. e., switching) conditions
$n_{r,nln,i}$:	$i = 1$: the number of implicit boundary conditions at t_0, t_f
		$i = 2,, m_1$: the number of implicit phase connecting conditions at the
		switching point $t_{S,i-1} = E_i (n_{r,nln,i} \ge 0)$
x(t-0)	:=	$\lim_{\epsilon > 0, \epsilon \to 0} x(t - \epsilon) \text{ (left side limit of } x \text{ at } t)$
x(t+0)	:=	$\lim_{\epsilon > 0, \epsilon \to 0} x(t + \epsilon)$ (right side limit of x at t)

In the sequel, references to user-supplied input files and subroutines are given in combination with the problem formulation. The details of the files that have to be supplied by the user are described later on in Section 4.2.

1.2.1 Objective

In general, the real-valued Mayer-type objective Φ may depend on

- values of the state variables x at the initial time t_0 and/or at the final time t_f and/or on the left and/or right side limits of x at the switching points,
- the final time t_f itself and (or) the switching points (collected in the vector of events E), and
- the control (or design) parameters p, i.e.,

$$J[u, p] = \Phi(x(t_0), x(t_{S,1} - 0), t_{S,1}, x(t_{S,1} + 0), \dots, x(t_{S,m-2} - 0), t_{S,m-2}, x(t_{S,m-2} + 0), x(t_f), t_f, p).$$
(1.7)

In the current version of **DIRCOL**, the additional assumption on the structure of Φ has been made for simplification of the user-supplied subroutine USROBJ for computing Φ (see Section 4.2.2.3)

$$\Phi = \Phi_{1} + \ldots + \Phi_{i} + \ldots + \Phi_{m_{1}} = \sum_{i=1}^{m_{1}} \Phi_{i}, \qquad (1.8)$$
where $\Phi_{1} = \Phi_{1}(x(t_{0}), u(t_{0}), p, t_{0}, x(t_{f}), u(t_{f}), t_{f})$

$$= \Phi_{1}(x(E_{1}), u(E_{1}), p, E_{1}, x(E_{m}), u(E_{m}), E_{m}),$$
and $\Phi_{i+1} = \Phi_{i}(x(t_{S,i} - 0), u(t_{S,i} - 0), p, t_{S,i}, x(t_{S,i} + 0), u(t_{S,i} + 0), t_{f})$

$$= \Phi_{i}(x(E_{i+1} - 0), u(E_{i+1} - 0), p, E_{i+1}, x(E_{i+1} + 0), u(E_{i+1} + 0), E_{m}),$$
 $i = 1, \ldots, m - 2.$

This assumption may be dropped. However, this will require a few changes in the source code of **DIRCOL**.

New!!

1.2.2 Differential equations

The first order ordinary differential equations may be piecewise defined by

$$\dot{x}(t) = \begin{cases} f^{1}(x(t), u(t), p, t), & t \in [t_{0}, t_{S,1}] = [E_{1}, E_{2}], \\ f^{i}(x(t), u(t), p, t), & t \in [t_{S,i-1}, t_{S,i}] = [E_{i}, E_{i+1}], \\ & i = 2, \dots, m-2, \end{cases} (1.9) \\ f^{m-1}(x(t), u(t), p, t), & t \in [t_{S,m-2}, t_{f}] = [E_{m-1}, E_{m}], \end{cases}$$

where the right hand side in each phase is

$$f^{i}(x, u, p, t) = \begin{cases} f^{i}_{1}(x, u, p, t) \\ \dots \\ f^{i}_{n_{X}}(x, u, p, t) \end{cases}, \text{ i. e., } f^{i} : \mathbb{R}^{n_{X} + l_{U} + l_{P} + 1} \to \mathbb{R}^{n_{X}}, \\ i = 1, \dots, m - 1. \end{cases}$$

The right hand side f_k^i , $k = 1, ..., n_X$, $i = 1, ..., m_1$, of each phase has to be provided by the user-supplied subroutine USRDEQ (see Section 4.2.2.2).

1.2.3 Conditions at initial, final and switching times

Explicit and *implicit* formulations of boundary and phase connecting conditions are distinguished.

Explicit conditions will **always** be fulfilled at every iteration of the optimization method because the discretization of the optimal control problem is tailored to them.

Implicit conditions will usually only be fulfilled at the end of an optimization run but **not** at intermediate iterations as they appear as nonlinear equality constraints in the nonlinear optimization problem.

Hint: Whenever there is a choice in the problem formulation, an *explicit* formulation should be preferred over an *implicit* one.

Note: Although it is possible by the software to impose conditions on the control variables u(t) at initial and final time and at switching points, this usually doesn't make sense and may even be **harmful** concerning the existence of a solution of the optimal control problem and its computability. Thus, be careful when using this option.

1.2.3.1 Explicit formulation

Two kinds of explicit formulations are distinguished in this user's guide.

The constant values of the first kind (concerning the values of the state variables at initial time $x(t_0)$ and of the left side limits of the state variables at the switching points $x(t_{S,k}-0), k = 1, ..., m-2$) have to be provided by the user-supplied input file DATLIM (see Section 4.2.1.2).

The functions of the second kind (concerning the values of the state variables at the final time $x(t_f)$ and of the right side limits of the state variables at the switching points $x(t_{S,k}+0), k = 1, ..., m-2$) have to be provided by the user-supplied subroutine USRNBC (see Section 4.2.2.4).

Information about each type of conditions has to be provided by the user-supplied input file DATLIM (see Section 4.2.1.2).

1.2.3.1.1 Explicit formulation of the first kind: The variables at *initial time* as well as their *left side limits* at *switching points* may be set explicitly to a given constant (provided by the user-supplied input file DATLIM, Section 4.2.1.2) as

$x_j(t_0)$	=	$x_{j,0}$	(a given constant)	
$u_l(t_0)$	=	$u_{l,0}$	(a given constant)	
$x_j(t_{S,m k}-0)$	=	$x_{j,S,k}$	(a given constant)	(1.10)
$u_l(t_{S,k}-0)$	=	$u_{l,S,k}$	(a given constant)	(1.10)
			$k = 2, \ldots, m_1$ (only possible if $m_1 \ge 2$)	
$(j \in \{1,\ldots,n_X\},$			$l \in \{1, \dots, l_U\}\Big).$	

1.2.3.1.2 Explicit formulation of the second kind: The variables at *final time* as well as their *right side limits* at *switching points* may be set explicitly to a given constant or a function R of the values at initial time or of the left side limits at switching points, respectively,

$$\begin{aligned} x_{j}(t_{f}) &= R_{x,j}^{1}(x(t_{0}), u(t_{0}), p, t_{0}, t_{f}) \\ u_{l}(t_{f}) &= R_{u,l}^{1}(x(t_{0}), u(t_{0}), p, t_{0}, t_{f}) \\ x_{j}(t_{S,k} + 0) &= R_{x,j}^{k+1}(x(t_{S,k} - 0), u(t_{S,k} - 0), p, t_{S,k}) \\ u_{l}(t_{S,k} + 0) &= R_{u,l}^{k+1}(x(t_{S,k} - 0), u(t_{S,k} - 0), p, t_{S,k}) \\ &\quad k = 2, \dots, m_{1} \text{ (only possible if } m_{1} \ge 2) \\ \left(j \in \{1, \dots, n_{X}\}, \qquad l \in \{1, \dots, l_{U}\} \right). \end{aligned}$$

$$(1.11)$$

Some examples of such functions R_i^k are

$$\begin{array}{rcl} x_{j}(t_{S,k}+0) &=& 100.0 & (\text{a given constant}), \\ x_{j}(t_{S,k}+0) &=& x_{j}(t_{S,k}-0) & (\text{continuity of } x_{i}(t) \text{ at } t_{S,k}), \\ x_{j}(t_{f}) &=& x_{j}(t_{0}) & (\text{periodicity of } x_{i}(t)). \end{array}$$
(1.12)

The functions $R_{x,j}^k$ and $R_{u,l}^k$ have to be provided by the user-supplied subroutine USRNBC (see Section 4.2.2.4). Information about each type of conditions has to be provided by the user-supplied input file DATLIM (see Section 4.2.1.2).

1.2.3.2 Implicit formulation

$$r_{i}^{1}(x(t_{0}), u(t_{0}), p, t_{0}, x(t_{f}), u(t_{f}), t_{f}) = 0$$

$$i = 1, \dots, n_{r,nln,1} \quad (n_{r,nln,1} \ge 0)$$

$$r_{l}^{k}(x(t_{S,k-1} - 0), u(t_{S,k-1} - 0), p, t_{S,k-1}, x(t_{S,k-1} + 0), u(t_{S,k-1} + 0), t_{f}) = 0$$

$$l = 1, \dots, n_{r,nln,k} \quad (n_{r,nln,k} \ge 0)$$
for $k = 2, \dots, m_{1}$.
$$(1.13)$$

The functions r defining implicit boundary and phase connecting conditions have to be provided by the user-supplied subroutine USRNBC (see Section 4.2.2.4). The numbers of each type of conditions have to be provided by the user-supplied input file DATDIM (see Section 4.2.1.1).

New!!

1.2.4 Inequality constraints

In order to improve robustness and efficiency, *upper* and *lower bounds* on all variables are treated separately from *general inequality constraints*.

1.2.4.1 Upper and lower bounds

Upper and lower bounds (so-called *box constraints*) have to be provided for **all** of the state variables x, the control variables u, the control parameters p, and the events E.

The box constraints of state and control variables may differ from one phase to another

1st phase:
$$t \in [E_1, E_2], \quad x_{j,\min}^1 \leq x_j(t) \leq x_{j,\max}^1, \quad j = 1, \dots, n_X, u_{l,\min}^1 \leq u_l(t) \leq u_{l,\max}^1, \quad l = 1, \dots, l_U,$$

...
 m_1 -th phase: $t \in [E_{m_1}, E_m], \quad x_{j,\min}^{m_1} \leq x_j(t) \leq x_{j,\max}^{m_1}, \quad j = 1, \dots, n_X, u_{l,\min}^{m_1} \leq u_l(t) \leq u_{l,\max}^{m_1}, \quad l = 1, \dots, l_U.$
(1.14)

The box constraints of the control parameters read as

$$p_{l,\min} \leq p_l \leq p_{l,\max}, \quad l=1,\ldots,l_P,$$

$$(1.15)$$

and for the events

$$E_{2,\min} \leq E_2 \leq E_{2,\max},$$

$$\dots$$

$$E_{m,\min} \leq E_m \leq E_{m,\max}.$$
(1.16)

The initial time $E_1 = t_0$ is kept fixed. Therefore no box constraints on t_0 are needed.

- All upper and lower bounds have to be provided by the user-supplied input file DATLIM (see Section 4.2.1.2).
- Unconstrained variables: If a variable has no upper bound, i.e., is unconstrained from above, then a value greater or equal to $+1.E+10 = +10^{10} \cong +\infty$ (which is treated as a placeholder for infinity) has to be set as upper bound. Vice versa, if a variable has no lower bound, a value less or equal to $-1.E+10 = -10^{10} \cong -\infty$ has to be specified in DATLIM (cf. optional parameter *infinite bound size* of NPSOL [12] or optional parameter *infinite bound* of SNOPT [11]).
- Problems with a **fixed final time** or **fixed switching points** are treated by setting lower and upper bounds of the corresponding event to the same value. For example, for a fixed final time of $t_f = 9.0$ one sets

$$E_{m,\min} = 9.0$$
 and $E_{m,\max} = 9.0$. (1.17)

1.2.4.2 Nonlinear inequality constraints

Number and type of the nonlinear inequality constraints may differ from one phase to another

1st phase: $t \in [E_1, E_2], \quad g_k^1(x, u, p, t) \ge 0, \quad k = 1, \dots, n_{g,nln,1} \quad (n_{g,nln,1} \ge 0)$... m_1 -th phase: $t \in [E_{m_1}, E_m], \quad g_k^{m_1}(x, u, p, t) \ge 0, \quad k = 1, \dots, n_{g,nln,m_1} \quad (n_{g,nln,m_1} \ge 0)$ (1.18)

The real-valued constraint functions g_k^i have to be provided by the user-supplied subroutine USRNIC (see Section 4.2.2.5). The numbers $n_{g,nln,i}$, $i = 1, ..., m_1$ have to be provided by the user-supplied input file DATDIM (see Section 4.2.1.1).

1.2.5 Equality constraints

Number and type of the nonlinear equality constraints may differ from one phase to another

1st phase: $t \in [E_1, E_2], \quad h_k^1(x, u, p, t) = 0, \quad k = 1, \dots, n_{h,nln,1} \quad (n_{h,nln,1} \ge 0)$... m_1 -th phase: $t \in [E_{m_1}, E_m], \quad h_k^{m_1}(x, u, p, t) = 0, \quad k = 1, \dots, n_{h,nln,m_1} \quad (n_{h,nln,m_1} \ge 0)$ (1.19)

The real-valued constraint functions h_k^i have to be provided by the user-supplied subroutine USRNEC (see Section 4.2.2.6). The numbers $n_{h,nln,i}$, $i = 1, ..., m_1$ have to be provided by the user-supplied input file DATDIM (see Section 4.2.1.1).

1.3 Other problem formulations

Several other problem formulations can be transformed into the problem formulation of Section 1.2.

1.3.1 Bolza and Lagrange-type objectives

Bolza and Lagrange-type objectives with an integral term can be transformed to Mayer-type problems by introducing an additional state variable.

For example, consider the Bolza problem with the objective

$$J[u, t_f] = \Phi(x(t_f), t_f) + \int_{t_0}^{t_f} L(x(t), u(t), t) dt.$$
 (1.20)

The Mayer form is obtained by introducing x_{n_X+1} and one additional state equation

$$\dot{x}_{n_X+1}(t) = L(x(t), u(t), t), \quad x_{n_X+1}(t_0) = 0, \quad x_{n_X+1}(t_f) \text{ free},$$
 (1.21)

in order to obtain the "new" objective

$$J[u, t_f] = \Phi(x(t_f), t_f) + x_{n_X+1}(t_f) = \Phi^*(x^*(t_f), t_f)$$
(1.22)

with the "new" state variable $x^* = (x_1, \ldots, x_{n_X}, x_{n_X+1})^T$ which is of dimension $n_X^* = n_X + 1$.

Examples: This transformation is used in the minimum energy problem of Section 2.2 and the oscillator problem of Section 2.6.

1.3.2 Integral-type constraints

Integral-type constraints

$$\int_{t_0}^{t_f} G(x(t), u(t), t) dt = 0 \quad (\text{or } \ge 0)$$
(1.23)

can be treated in the same way as integral-type objectives by introducing an additional state variable

$$\dot{x}_{n_X+1}(t) = G(x(t), u(t), t), \quad x_{n_X+1}(t_0) = 0$$
 (1.24)

resulting in the "new" end point constraint

$$x_{n_X+1}(t_f) = 0 \quad (\text{or } \ge 0).$$
 (1.25)

1.3.3 Min-max objectives

Min-max objectives such as

$$J[u, p] = \min_{u, p} \max_{t \in [t_0, t_f]} M(x(t), u(t), t), \qquad (1.26)$$

can be transformed into constrained Mayer-type problems by introducing an additional control parameter p_{l_P+1} satisfying $p_{l_P+1} = \max\{M(x(t), u(t), t) : t \in [t_0, t_f]\}$. Then the resulting constrained Mayer-type problem is

$$J[u, p^{\star}] = \Phi^{\star}(x(t_f), p^{\star}, t_f) = p_{l_P+1} \to \min!$$
 (1.27)

subject to the additional inequality constraint

$$p_{l_P+1} - M(x(t), u(t), t) \ge 0.$$
 (1.28)

Example: This transformation is used in the problem of the flight of a passenger aircraft through a downburst windshear described in Section 2.8.

1.3.4 Higher order differential equations

Higher order differential equations may be transformed to first order systems by introducing additional state variables.

For example, consider the second order system

$$\ddot{x} = f(x, u, p, t).$$
 (1.29)

This system is equivalent to the first order system

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{x} &= v, \\ \dot{v} &= f(x, u, p, t) \end{aligned}$$
 (1.30)

which is of the double size. The "new" state variable is $x^{\star} = (x, v)$.

Example: This transformation technique is applied to the minimum energy problem of Section 2.2 and to the robot trajectory optimization problems of Section 2.9.

1.3.5 DAEs and implicit differential equations

Implicit differential equations and differential-algebraic equations (DAEs) may be transformed to explicit first order systems with equality constraints by introducing additional control variables.

For example, consider the first order implicit system

$$h(x, \dot{x}, u, p, t) = 0. \tag{1.31}$$

This implicit system is equivalent to the first order system with nonlinear equality constraints

$$\dot{x} = v,$$

 $0 = h(x, v, u, p, t).$
(1.32)

The "new" control variable is $u^{\star} = (u, v)$.

Another example are semi-explicit DAEs of the form

$$\dot{x} = f(x, y, u, p, t), 0 = h(x, y, u, p, t)$$
(1.33)

where dimension(f) = dimension(x) = n_X and dimension(h) = dimension(y) = n_Y , i. e., x denote the differential state and y the algebraic state variables. For the numerical solution using **DIRCOL** the algebraic equation h(.) = 0 ist treated as nonlinear equality constraint (see Section 1.2.5) and the algebraic state variable y is considered to be a control variable. Thus, the "new" control variable is $u^* = (u, y)$ of dimension $l_{U^*} = l_U + n_Y$. Thus, the algebraic state variable y is approximated by piecewise linear functions.

Examples are the index-1 DAE formulation of the catalyst mixing problem described in Section 2.4.3 and the index-3 DAE formulation of the pendulum problem described in Section 2.5.

2 Example Problems

In this chapter the formulations of the example problems are described, which are provided in the subdirectories of dircol-2.0/ex with the source code.

problem/directory	n_X	l_U	l_P	m_1	$n_{g,nln,1}$	$n_{g,nln,2}$	$n_{h,nln,1}$	$n_{h,nln,2}$	$n_{r,nln,1}$	$n_{r,nln,2}$
minimum_energy	3	1	0	1						
(standard)					0	_	0	_	0	
_demo					1		0		2	—
onedim_rocket	2	1	0	2						
(standard)					0	0	0	0	0	0
_demo					1	1	0	0	3	2
catalyst_mixing										
_ode	2	1	0	1	0	—	0	—	0	—
_dae	2	2	0	1	0		1		0	
pendulum	4	1	1	1	0	_	1		2	
oscillator	5	0	2	1	0		0		1	
robot_i2	5	2	0	1	0	—	0	_	0	
windshear	5	1	1	1	1		0		0	
manutec										
_minimum_time	6	3	0	1	0	—	0		0	—
_minimum_energy	7	3	0	1	0		0		0	

2.1 Survey of the example problems

Table 2.1: Dimensions of the example problems.

Brief comments on the example problems:

1. *Minimum energy:*

A classical minimum energy problem from Bryson, Denham, and Dreyfus with a second order state constraint.

- 2. *One-dimensional rocket:* Ascent optimization of a simple rocket in two phases.
- 3. *Catalyst mixing*: Optimal mixing policy of two catalysts of a plug flow reactor (index-1 DAE).
- 4. *Pendulum*: Parameter identification for a pendulum (index-3 DAE, multiple solutions).
- 5. Oscillator: Optimal design parameters for minimum noise design of a microwave oscillator.

6. Roboter i2:

Optimal path tracking for a simple robot model.

7. Windshear:

Min-max optimal control problem of abort landing of a passenger aircraft in the presence of a downburst windshear subject to several constraints.

8. *Manutec minimum time:*

The minimum time point-to-point trajectory of an industrial robot with three degreesof-freedom whose dynamics is described realistically by a highly nonlinear system of differential equations. The trajectory is subject to (active) box constraints on the state variables, i. e., the angles and the angular velocities.

9. Manutec minimum energy:

A minimum energy trajectory for the same robot with prescribed final time.

For all example problems a reference for the solution is available either as an explicit solution, another approximate solution, or an ideal reference path.

Remark: Many of the example problems are discussed in detail in [39].

2.2 A minimum energy problem

2.2.1 Problem description

This well-known problem has originally been suggested by John V. Breakwell and its analytical solution has been reported by Bryson, Denham, and Dreyfus [5]. It is also discussed in Sec. 3.11, Example 2, of Bryson, Ho [6] and has been investigated in Sec. 5.3.1 of [39]. The task is to minimize

$$J[u] = \frac{1}{2} \int_0^1 a^2(t) dt$$
 (2.1)

subject to the differential equation with boundary conditions

$$\ddot{x}(t) = a(t), \quad x(0) = 0, \quad x(1) = 0, \dot{x}(0) = 1, \quad \dot{x}(1) = -1$$
(2.2)

and the constraint

$$x(t) \leq l \tag{2.3}$$

for a given constant l.



Figure 2.1: Optimal state x(t) of the minimum energy problem in the case of an upper bound of l = 1/9 = 0.1111...

2.2.2 minimum_energy: the standard formulation

According to the terminology of Section 1.2 the Lagrange-type objective has to be transformed into a Mayer-type one by introducing a third state variable. Obviously, the problem consists of one phase only, i. e., $m_1 = 1$ and $[E_1, E_2] = [t_0, t_f] = [0, 1]$. According to Section 1.2 we have the following dimensions

r	i_X	l_U	l_P	m_1	$n_{g,nln,1}$	$n_{h,nln,1}$	$n_{r,nln,1}$
	3	1	0	1	0	0	0

The state and control variables are

$$\begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} x \\ \dot{x} \\ \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t a^2(\tau) d\tau \end{pmatrix}, \quad (u_1) = (a).$$
(2.4)

The objective according to Section 1.2.1 is

$$\Phi = \Phi_1$$
where $\Phi_1 = x_3(t_f).$
(2.5)

According to Section 1.2.2, the right hand side of the differential equations now reads

$$f^{1} = \begin{pmatrix} f_{1}^{1} \\ f_{2}^{1} \\ f_{3}^{1} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} x_{2} \\ u_{1} \\ \frac{1}{2}u_{1}^{2} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.6)

The conditions at the initial time $t_0 = 0$ are explicit conditions of the first kind according to Equation (1.10) of Section 1.2.3.1

$$\begin{aligned} x_1(t_0) &= 0, \\ x_2(t_0) &= 1, \\ x_3(t_0) &= 0. \end{aligned}$$
 (2.7)

The conditions at the final time $t_f = 1$ are explicit conditions of the second kind according to Equation (1.11) of Section 1.2.3.1

As the upper and lower bounds of Section 1.2.4.1 one obtains for the state and control variables in the

1st phase:
$$t \in [E_1, E_2]$$
, $-10^{10} = x_{1,\min}^1 \leq x_1(t) \leq x_{1,\max}^1 = l = \frac{1}{9}$,
 $-10^{10} = x_{2,\min}^1 \leq x_2(t) \leq x_{2,\max}^1 = +10^{10}$,
 $-10^{10} = x_{3,\min}^1 \leq x_3(t) \leq x_{3,\max}^1 = +10^{10}$,
 $-10^{10} = u_{1,\min}^1 \leq u_1(t) \leq u_{1,\max}^1 = +10^{10}$,
(2.9)

Control parameters do not appear in this problem (i. e., $l_P = 0$) and the final time is fixed. Therefore the lower and upper bounds for E_2 are

$$1 = E_{2,\min} \leq E_2 \leq E_{2,\max} = 1.$$
 (2.10)

Nonlinear inequality or equality constraints as described in Sections 1.2.4 and 1.2.5 do not appear in this problem: $n_{g,nln,1} = 0$, $n_{h,nln,1} = 0$.

as

2.2.3 minimum_energy_demo: formulation for demonstration

For the purpose of demonstration only, another, usually less efficient formulation of the problem for numerical solution is also provided:

• Here, the upper bound constraint on x_1 is treated as a nonlinear inequality constraint according to Section 1.2.4.2. Therefore $n_{g,nln,1} = 1$ and

$$g_1^1(x, u, p, t) = l - x_1(t) \ge 0.$$
 (2.11)

• The two explicit conditions at the final time $t_f = 1$ of Equation (2.8) are replaced by two implicit conditions according to Equation (1.13) of Section 1.2.3.2

$$r_1^1(x(t_0), u(t_0), p, t_0, x(t_f), u(t_f), t_f) = x_1(t_f) = 0, r_2^1(x(t_0), u(t_0), p, t_0, x(t_f), u(t_f), t_f) = x_2(t_f) + 1 = 0.$$
(2.12)

For the new formulation of the problem, the dimensions according to Section 1.2 are

n_X	l_U	l_P	m_1	$n_{g,nln,1}$	$n_{h,nln,1}$	$n_{r,nln,1}$
3	1	0	1	1	0	2

In order to investigate the effects of the new problem formulation, the explicit upper bound on $x_1(t)$ is set to infinity:

1st phase: $t \in [E_1, E_2], -10^{10} = x_{1,\min}^1 \le x_1(t) \le x_{1,\max}^1 = +10^{10}.$

Everything else in the problem formulation remains the same compared with the standard formulation of the previous section.

17

2.3 One-dimensional ascent of a rocket

2.3.1 Problem description

This simple one-dimensional rocket problem with an analytical solution has been given by Hargraves [17]. The rocket has no drag and constant thrust a until a time t_S of phase separation and it has zero thrust after this time.



Figure 2.2: The one-dimensional ascent of a simple rocket.

The problem is to reach a given altitude x_f with minimum fuel consumption. Assuming a constant fuel flow rate, fuel consumption is directly proportional to t_S . Thus we want to minimize the time t_S of phase separation while the final time t_f is free.

The original problem formulation [17] reads as: Minimize

$$J[\eta, t_S, t_f] = t_S \tag{2.13}$$

subject to the differential equation

$$\ddot{x} = \eta(t)a - g \tag{2.14}$$

and boundary conditions

$$\begin{aligned} x(0) &= 0, \quad x(t_f) &= x_f \\ \dot{x}(0) &= v_0, \quad \dot{x}(t_f) \quad \text{is free.} \end{aligned}$$
 (2.15)

The control is given by

$$\eta(t) = \begin{cases} 1, & t \in [0, t_S] \\ 0, & t \in (t_S, t_f] \end{cases}$$
(2.16)

and the constants are g = 1, a = 2, $x_f = 100$, and $v_0 = 0$.

Several formulations of the problem according to Section 1.2 are possible, for example,

- as a problem with one control variable and different control constraints in different phases, or
- by eliminating the control η a priori using Equation (2.16) and resulting in a problem with a phase-wise defined right hand side (2.15).

Here, we will discuss the first formulation.

2.3.2 onedim_rocket: the standard formulation

The problem has $m_1 = 2$ phases, and the m = 3 events are

$$E_1 = 0, \ E_2 = t_S, \ E_3 = t_f.$$
 (2.17)

Hence, the dimensions according to Section 1.2 are

n_X	l_U	l_P	m_1	$n_{g,nln,1}$	$n_{g,nln,2}$	$n_{h,nln,1}$	$n_{h,nln,2}$	$n_{r,nln,1}$	$n_{r,nln,2}$
2	1	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0

The state and control variables are

$$\begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} x \\ v \end{pmatrix}, \quad (u_1) = (\eta).$$
 (2.18)

The objective according to Section 1.2.1 is

$$\Phi = \Phi_1 + \Phi_2
where \Phi_1 = 0, \quad \Phi_2 = E_2.$$
(2.19)

According to Section 1.2.2, the right hand side of the differential equations reads as

$$f^{1} = \begin{pmatrix} f_{1}^{1} \\ f_{2}^{1} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} x_{2} \\ au_{1} - g \end{pmatrix}, \quad E_{1} \le t \le E_{2}, \quad (2.20)$$

$$f^2 = \begin{pmatrix} f_1^2 \\ f_2^2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} x_2 \\ au_1 - g \end{pmatrix}, \quad E_2 < t \le E_3.$$
 (2.21)

The conditions at the initial time $E_1 = 0$ are explicit conditions of the first kind in the terminology of Section 1.2.3

$$\begin{array}{rcl} x_1(t_0) &=& 0, \\ x_2(t_0) &=& 0. \end{array}$$
 (2.22)

The condition at the final time $E_3 = t_f$ is an explicit condition of the second kind in the terminology of Section 1.2.3

$$x_1(t_f) = R_{x,1}^1(.) = x_f.$$
 (2.23)

Although it is not explicitly mentioned in the problem description, the state variables x_1 and x_2 are continuous at the staging point $E_2 = t_s$. We have to ensure this for the discretized state variables by explicit conditions of the second kind according to Equation (1.11) of Section 1.2.3.1

$$\begin{aligned} x_1(E_2+0) &= R_{x,1}^2(.) &= x_1(E_2-0), \\ x_2(E_2+0) &= R_{x,2}^2(.) &= x_2(E_2-0). \end{aligned}$$
 (2.24)

As the upper and lower bounds of Section 1.2.4.1 for the state and control variables we obtain

1st phase:
$$t \in [E_1, E_2]$$
, $0 = x_{1,\min}^1 \le x_1(t) \le x_{1,\max}^1 = \pm \pm 10^{10}$,
 $0 = x_{2,\min}^1 \le x_2(t) \le x_{2,\max}^1 = \pm \pm 10^{10}$,
 $1 = u_{1,\min}^1 \le u_1(t) \le u_{1,\max}^1 = 1$,
2nd phase: $t \in [E_2, E_3]$, $0 = x_{1,\min}^2 \le x_1(t) \le x_{1,\max}^2 = \pm \pm \pm 10^{10}$,
 $0 = x_{2,\min}^2 \le x_2(t) \le x_{2,\max}^2 = \pm \pm \pm \pm \pm \pm 10^{10}$,
 $0 = u_{1,\min}^2 \le u_1(t) \le u_{1,\max}^2 = 0$.
(2.25)

New!!

As the lower and upper bounds for E_2 and E_3

$$\begin{array}{rclcrcl} 0.01 & = & E_{2,\min} & \leq & E_2 & \leq & E_{2,\max} & = & +10^{10}, \\ 0.01 & = & E_{3,\min} & \leq & E_3 & \leq & E_{3,\max} & = & +10^{10}, \end{array}$$
(2.26)

might be used.

2.3.3 onedim_rocket_demo: formulation for demonstration

For the purpose of demonstration only, another, usually less efficient formulation of the problem for numerical solution is also provided:

• The two explicit conditions at initial time of Equation (2.22), the explicit condition at final time of Equation (2.23), and the two explicit conditions at the point of phase separation of Equation (2.24) are replaced by implicit conditions:

$$\begin{array}{rcl} r_1^1(x(t_0), u(t_0), p, t_0, x(t_f), u(t_f), t_f) &=& x_1(t_0) &=& 0, \\ r_2^1(x(t_0), u(t_0), p, t_0, x(t_f), u(t_f), t_f) &=& x_2(t_0) &=& 0, \\ r_3^1(x(t_0), u(t_0), p, t_0, x(t_f), u(t_f), t_f) &=& x_1(t_f) - x_f &=& 0, \\ r_1^2(x(t_S - 0), u(t_S - 0), p, t_S, x(t_S + 0), u(t_S + 0)) &=& x_1(t_S + 0) - x_1(t_S - 0) &=& 0, \\ r_2^2(x(t_S - 0), u(t_S - 0), p, t_S, x(t_S + 0), u(t_S + 0)) &=& x_2(t_S + 0) - x_2(t_S - 0) &=& 0. \\ \end{array}$$

• In each phase, one (trivial) nonlinear inequality constraint is introduced which is not active at the solution:

1st phase:
$$t \in [E_1, E_2], \quad g_1^1(x, u, p, t) = x_1(t) \ge 0,$$

2nd phase: $t \in [E_2, E_3], \quad g_1^2(x, u, p, t) = x_2(t) \ge 0,$

$$(2.28)$$

Hence, the dimensions according to Section 1.2 are

n_X	l_U	l_P	m_1	$n_{g,nln,1}$	$n_{g,nln,2}$	$n_{h,nln,1}$	$n_{h,nln,2}$	$n_{r,nln,1}$	$n_{r,nln,2}$
2	1	0	2	1	1	0	0	3	2

Everything else in the problem formulation remains unchanged.

2.4 Catalyst mixing

2.4.1 Problem description

This problem due to Gunn and Thomas [16] (see also [3, 25, 42]) determines the optimal mixing policy of two catalysts along the length of a tubular, plug flow reactor involving the reactions

$$S_1 \rightleftharpoons S_2 \to S_3$$
.

The mixing ratio of the catalysts is the control variable u which has to be determined in order to maximize the production of species S_3 , i.e., to minimize

$$J[u] = -1 + x_1(t_f) + x_2(t_f)$$
(2.29)

subject to the differential equations with boundary conditions

$$\dot{x}_1(t) = u(t)(10x_2(t) - x_1(t)), \qquad x_1(0) = 1, \quad x_1(t_f) \text{ free,} \\ \dot{x}_2(t) = u(t)(x_1(t) - 10x_2(t)) - (1 - u(t))x_2(t), \quad x_2(0) = 0, \quad x_2(t_f) \text{ free,}$$

$$(2.30)$$

and the control constraint

$$0 \le u(t) \le 1 \tag{2.31}$$

for fixed final time $t_f = 1$.

A reference value of -0.0480557 for the objective obtained numerically has been reported by [42].

21

New!!

2.4.2 catalyst_mixing_ode: the ODE formulation

Obviously, the problem consists of only one phase, i. e., $m_1 = 1$ and $[E_1, E_2] = [t_0, t_f] = [0, 1]$. According to Section 1.2 we have the following dimensions

n_X	l_U	l_P	m_1	$n_{g,nln,1}$	$n_{h,nln,1}$	$n_{r,nln,1}$
2	1	0	1	0	0	0

The objective according to Section 1.2.1 is

$$\Phi = \Phi_1$$
where $\Phi_1 = -1 + x_1(t_f) + x_2(t_f).$
(2.32)

According to Section 1.2.2, the right hand side of the differential equations reads as

$$f^{1} = \begin{pmatrix} f_{1}^{1} \\ f_{2}^{1} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} u_{1}(10x_{2} - x_{1}) \\ u_{1}(x_{1} - 10x_{2}) - (1 - u_{1})x_{2} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.33)

The conditions at the initial time $t_0 = 0$ are explicit conditions of the first kind according to Equation (1.10) of Section 1.2.3.1

$$\begin{array}{rcl} x_1(t_0) &=& 1, \\ x_2(t_0) &=& 0. \end{array} \tag{2.34}$$

No conditions on the state variables are given at the final time $E_2 = t_f$.

As the upper and lower bounds of Section 1.2.4.1 one obtains for the state and control variables in the

1st phase:
$$t \in [E_1, E_2]$$
, $-10^{10} = x_{1,\min}^1 \le x_1(t) \le x_{1,\max}^1 = +10^{10}$,
 $-10^{10} = x_{2,\min}^1 \le x_2(t) \le x_{2,\max}^1 = +10^{10}$,
 $0 = u_{1,\min}^1 \le u_1(t) \le u_{1,\max}^1 = +1$.
(2.35)

Control parameters do not appear in this problem (i.e., $l_P = 0$) and the final time is fixed. Thus, the lower and upper bounds for E_2 are equal

$$1 = E_{2,\min} \leq E_2 \leq E_{2,\max} = 1.$$
 (2.36)

Nonlinear inequality or equality constraints as described in Sections 1.2.4 and 1.2.5 do not appear in this problem: $n_{g,nln,1} = 0$, $n_{h,nln,1} = 0$.

2.4.3 catalyst_mixing_dae: the DAE formulation

An index-1 DAE formulation of the problem is described by [3] where a third, *algebraic* state variable x_3 is introduced that must satisfy the algebraic equation

$$x_3(t) = 1 - x_1(t) - x_2(t). (2.37)$$

Thus, the objective to be minimized is rewritten as

$$J[u] = -x_3(t_f). (2.38)$$

For the numerical treatment of the reformulated problem using **DIRCOL**, the algebraic equation is treated as a nonlinear equality constraint according to Section 1.3.5. Thus, the *algebraic state variable* is considered to be another *control variable* u_2 and is approximated piecewise linearly.

The problem still consists of only one phase, i.e., $m_1 = 1$ and $[E_1, E_2] = [t_0, t_f] = [0, 1]$. According to Section 1.2 we have the new problem dimensions

n_X	l_U	l_P	m_1	$n_{g,nln,1}$	$n_{h,nln,1}$	$n_{r,nln,1}$
2	2	0	1	0	1	0

The objective according to Section 1.2.1 is

$$\Phi = \Phi_1$$
where $\Phi_1 = -u_2(t_f).$
(2.39)

According to Section 1.2.2, the right hand side of the differential equations reads as

$$f^{1} = \begin{pmatrix} f_{1}^{1} \\ f_{2}^{1} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} u_{1}(10x_{2} - x_{1}) \\ u_{1}(x_{1} - 10x_{2}) - (1 - u_{1})x_{2} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.40)

The conditions at the initial time $t_0 = 0$ are explicit conditions of the first kind according to Equation (1.10) of Section 1.2.3.1

$$\begin{array}{lll} x_1(t_0) &=& 1, \\ x_2(t_0) &=& 0. \end{array}$$
 (2.41)

No conditions on the state variables are given at the final time $E_2 = t_f$.

As the upper and lower bounds of Section 1.2.4.1 one obtains for the state and control variables in the

1st phase:
$$t \in [E_1, E_2]$$
, $-10^{10} = x_{1,\min}^1 \leq x_1(t) \leq x_{1,\max}^1 = +10^{10}$,
 $-10^{10} = x_{2,\min}^1 \leq x_2(t) \leq x_{2,\max}^1 = +10^{10}$,
 $0 = u_{1,\min}^1 \leq u_1(t) \leq u_{1,\max}^1 = +1$,
 $-10^{10} = u_{2,\min}^1 \leq u_2(t) \leq u_{2,\max}^1 = +10^{10}$.
(2.42)

Control parameters do not appear in this problem (i. e., $l_P = 0$) and the final time is fixed. Thus, the lower and upper bounds for E_2 are equal

$$1 = E_{2,\min} \leq E_2 \leq E_{2,\max} = 1.$$
 (2.43)

Nonlinear inequality constraints as described in Section 1.2.4 do not appear in this problem: $n_{g,nln,1} = 0$. However, there is $n_{h,nln,1} = 1$ equality constraint (cf. Section 1.2.5)

$$h_1^1(x, u, p, t) = 1 - x_1(t) - x_2(t) - u_2(t) = 0.$$
 (2.44)

Fig. 2.3 displays the numerical solution of the problem applying **DIRCOL** with 51 equidistant grid points and with option iAction = 8 for optimization (Section 4.2.1.1). For the initial estimates (cf. Sections 4.2.2.7 and 4.4.1.3)

$$x_1^{\text{initial}}(t) \equiv 1, \quad x_2^{\text{initial}}(t) \equiv 0, \quad u_1^{\text{initial}}(t) \equiv 0, \quad u_2^{\text{initial}}(t) \equiv 0, \quad t \in [0, 1]$$

and the tolerances $\epsilon_{\rm OPT} = 10^{-6}$, $\epsilon_{\rm NFT} = 10^{-8}$, a good approximation of the solution with a final value of the objective of -0.0480455993 is obtained in very few seconds (for example, in 0.8 seconds with a Pentium II/266 MHz under Linux 2.0.33 with GNU Fortran Version 0.5.19.1).

The numerical results have been visualized using DGNU and Gnuplot (cf. Section 4.6.1). The computed optimal control u_1^* exhibits a max-singular-min structure.



Figure 2.3: DIRCOL solution of the catalyst mixing problem for 51 equistant grid points.

2.5 Pendulum

2.5.1 Problem description

New!!

Consider a pendulum of length l = 0.5 [m] and mass m = 0.3 [kg] moving in a vertical plane being fixed at the origin of the x-y coordinate system [19, 20].



Figure 2.4: State variables of the pendulum.

The equations of motion may be described by a system of DAEs of (differential) index 3 [19, 20]

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{x}(t) &= u(t) & x(0) &= 0.4 \quad [m] \\ \dot{y}(t) &= v(t) & y(0) &= -0.3 \quad [m] \\ \dot{u}(t) &= \lambda x(t)/m & u(0) &= 0 \quad [m/s] \\ \dot{v}(t) &= \lambda y(t)/m - g & v(0) &= 0 \quad [m/s] \\ 0 &= x^2(t) + y^2(t) - l^2 \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.45)$$

where λ denotes the Lagrangian multiplier being the algebraic state variable.

We assume that the gravitational constant g is unknown and is to be estimated using the results of an experiment (cf. [19, 20]). As suggested by Kronseder [24], only the result

$$\begin{pmatrix} x_f \\ y_f \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -0.231625 \\ -0.443109 \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.46)

of one measurement at $t_f = 2$ [s] is used to obtain an objective of Mayer type

$$J = \frac{1}{2} \left((x(t_f) - x_f)^2 + (y(t_f) - y_f)^2 \right).$$
 (2.47)

The measurement values are the numerical solution of an initial value problem for the "true" gravitational constant $g^* = 9.81 \,[\text{m/s}^2]$ plus a white measurement noise simulating a measurement error.

Index reduction [34] is applied to transform the index 3 into an index 1 system analyticaly by successive total differentiation with respect to time resulting in a "new" algebraic constraint (on the acceleration level)

$$0 = u^{2}(t) + v^{2}(t) + \lambda(t)l^{2}/m - y(t)g \qquad (2.48)$$

plus two additional entry conditions at $t_0 = 0$ (cf. [19, 20, 24])

$$\begin{array}{rcl}
0 &=& x^2(t_0) + y^2(t_0) - l^2 \\
0 &=& x(t_0)u(t_0) + y(t_0)v(t_0).
\end{array}$$
(2.49)

Please note that the solution to this problem is **not** unique! The pendulum swings periodically. Different numbers of swings already completed at $t_f = 2$ correspond to different solutions for g. Thus, the numerical solution depends on the initial estimates, namely λ^{initial} , g^{initial} .

2.5.2 pendulum: the standard formulation

.

The problem consists of one phase, i. e., $m_1 = 1$ and $[E_1, E_2] = [t_0, t_f] = [0, 2]$. The state variables, control variable and control parameter are

$$x = \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \\ x_4 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \\ u \\ v \end{pmatrix}, \quad u = (u_1) = (\lambda), \\ p = (p_1) = (g).$$
(2.50)

According to Section 1.2 we have the following dimensions

n_X	l_U	l_P	m_1	$n_{g,nln,1}$	$n_{h,nln,1}$	$n_{r,nln,1}$
4	1	1	1	0	1	2

The objective according to Section 1.2.1 is

$$\Phi = \Phi_1$$

where $\Phi_1 = \frac{1}{2} \left((x_1(t_f) - x_f)^2 + (x_2(t_f) - y_f)^2 \right)$ (2.51)

According to Section 1.2.2, the right hand side of the differential equations reads as

$$f^{1} = \begin{pmatrix} f_{1}^{1} \\ f_{2}^{1} \\ f_{3}^{1} \\ f_{4}^{1} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} x_{3} \\ x_{4} \\ u_{1}(t)x_{1}(t)/m \\ u_{1}(t)x_{2}(t)/m - p_{1} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.52)

The conditions at the initial time $t_0 = 0$ and final time $t_f = 2$ consist of explicit conditions of the first kind according to Equation (1.10) of Section 1.2.3.1

$$\begin{array}{rcl} x_1(t_0) &=& 0.4, \\ x_2(t_0) &=& -0.3, \\ x_3(t_0) &=& 0, \\ x_4(t_0) &=& 0, \end{array}$$

$$(2.53)$$

no explicit conditions of the second kind according to Equation (1.11) of Section 1.2.3.1, but two implicit conditions according to Equation (1.13) of Section 1.2.3.2

$$r_1^1(x(t_0), u(t_0), p, t_0, x(t_f), u(t_f), t_f) = x_1^2(t_0) + x_2^2(t_0) - l^2 = 0,$$
(2.54)

$$r_2^1(x(t_0), u(t_0), p, t_0, x(t_f), u(t_f), t_f) = x_1(t_0)x_3(t_0) + x_2(t_0)x_4(t_0) = 0.$$
 (2.55)

As the upper and lower bounds of Section 1.2.4.1 one obtains for the state and control variables in the

1st phase:
$$t \in [E_1, E_2]$$
, $-10^{10} = x_{1,\min}^1 \leq x_1(t) \leq x_{1,\max}^1 = +10^{10}$,
 $-10^{10} = x_{2,\min}^1 \leq x_2(t) \leq x_{2,\max}^1 = +10^{10}$,
 $-10^{10} = x_{3,\min}^1 \leq x_3(t) \leq x_{3,\max}^1 = +10^{10}$,
 $-10^{10} = x_{4,\min}^1 \leq x_4(t) \leq x_{4,\max}^1 = +10^{10}$,
 $-10^{10} = u_{1,\min}^1 \leq u_1(t) \leq u_{1,\max}^1 = +10^{10}$,
 (2.56)

and for the control parameter and event

$$\begin{array}{rcrcrcrcrcrcrc} 10^{-2} & = & p_{1,\min} & \leq & p_{1} & \leq & p_{1,\max} & = & 100, \\ 2 & = & E_{2,\min} & \leq & E_{2} & \leq & E_{2,\max} & = & 2. \end{array}$$
(2.57)

Nonlinear inequality constraints as described in Section 1.2.4 do not appear in this problem: $n_{g,nln,1} = 0$. However, there is $n_{h,nln,1} = 1$ equality constraint (cf. Section 1.2.5)

$$h_1^1(x, u, p, t) = x_3^2(t) + x_4^2(t) + u_1(t)l^2/m - x_2(t)p_1 = 0.$$
 (2.58)

Fig. 2.5 displays the numerical solution of the problem applying **DIRCOL** with 51 equidistant grid points and with option iAction = 8 for optimization (Section 4.2.1.1).

For the initial estimates (cf. Sections 4.2.2.7 and 4.4.1.3) for $t \in [0, 2]$

$$x_1^{\text{initial}}(t) \equiv 0.4, \; x_2^{\text{initial}}(t) \equiv -0.3, \; x_3^{\text{initial}}(t) = x_4^{\text{initial}}(t) \equiv 0, \; u_1^{\text{initial}}(t) \equiv -5.0,$$

and $p_1^{\text{initial}} = 20.0$, and the tolerances $\epsilon_{\text{OPT}} = 10^{-6}$, $\epsilon_{\text{NFT}} = 10^{-8}$, a good approximation of the solution with a final value of the objective of $0.955756149 \cdot 10-6$ and of the gravitational constant $p_1 = g = 9.7704$ is obtained in very few seconds (for example, in 1.2 CPU seconds with a Pentium II/266 MHz under Linux 2.0.33 with GNU Fortran Version 0.5.19.1).

The numerical results have been visualized using DGNU and Gnuplot (cf. Section 4.6.1).



Figure 2.5: DIRCOL solution to the pendulum problem for 51 equistant grid points.

2.6 Minimum noise design of an oscillator

This problem has been suggested to the author by W. Anzill who also reported the analytical solution. It is described in Section 8.6 of [39].

2.6.1 Problem description



Figure 2.6: Equivalent circuit of the van-der-Pol-oscillator.

The task is to determine the design, e.g., the linear network, of oscillators with minimized phase noise. This is done by formulating and solving an appropriate optimal control problem numerically. Here, we will only briefly describe the model problem of minimum noise design of a van-der-Pol-oscillator which has been described in [1, 39]. For more background on the general problem we refer to [2].

The state variables are

$$x_1 = u_C, \qquad x_2 = \sqrt{L/C} \cdot i_L$$
 (2.59)

where u_C describes the voltage, L the inductivity, C the capacity. The differential equations are

$$\dot{x}_{1} = \frac{\gamma}{2} \left(1 - \frac{x_{1}^{2}(t) + x_{2}^{2}(t)}{R_{0}^{2}} \right) x_{1}(t) - x_{2}(t) \left(\omega + \beta \left(\sqrt{x_{1}^{2}(t) + x_{2}^{2}(t)} - R_{0} \right) \right) (2.60)$$

$$\dot{x}_{2} = \frac{\gamma}{2} \left(1 - \frac{x_{1}^{2}(t) + x_{2}^{2}(t)}{R_{0}^{2}} \right) x_{2}(t) + x_{1}(t) \left(\omega + \beta \left(\sqrt{x_{1}^{2}(t) + x_{2}^{2}(t)} - R_{0} \right) \right) (2.61)$$

with real constants γ , β , R_0 , ω . For computing the single-sideband phase noise two variables v_1 and v_2 are required which must satisfy

$$\dot{v}_{1} = -\left(\frac{\gamma}{2}\left(1 - \frac{x_{1}^{2}(t) + x_{2}^{2}(t)}{R_{0}^{2}} - 2\frac{x_{1}^{2}(t)}{R_{0}^{2}}\right) - \beta \frac{x_{1}(t)x_{2}(t)}{\sqrt{x_{1}^{2}(t) + x_{2}^{2}(t)}}\right)v_{1}(t) \\ - \left(-\gamma \frac{x_{1}(t)x_{2}(t)}{R_{0}^{2}} + \omega + \beta \left(\sqrt{x_{1}^{2}(t) + x_{2}^{2}(t)} - R_{0}\right) + \beta \frac{x_{1}^{2}(t)}{\sqrt{x_{1}^{2}(t) + x_{2}^{2}(t)}}\right)v_{2}(t), \quad (2.62)$$

November 1999

$$\dot{v}_{2} = -\left(-\gamma \frac{x_{1}(t)x_{2}(t)}{R_{0}^{2}} - \omega - \beta \left(\sqrt{x_{1}^{2}(t) + x_{2}^{2}(t)} - R_{0}\right) - \beta \frac{x_{2}^{2}(t)}{\sqrt{x_{1}^{2}(t) + x_{2}^{2}(t)}}\right) v_{1}(t) \\ -\left(\frac{\gamma}{2}\left(1 - \frac{x_{1}^{2}(t) + x_{2}^{2}(t)}{R_{0}^{2}} - 2\frac{x_{2}^{2}(t)}{R_{0}^{2}}\right) + \beta \frac{x_{1}(t)x_{2}(t)}{\sqrt{x_{1}^{2}(t) + x_{2}^{2}(t)}}\right) v_{2}(t).$$

$$(2.63)$$

The five conditions at initial and final time for one oscillation with period t_f are

$$x_i(t_f) = x_i(0), \ i = 1, 2, \ x_2(0) = 0, \ v_1(t_f) = v_1(0), \ v_1(0) \dot{x}_1(0) + v_2(0) \dot{x}_2(0) = 1.$$

(2.64)

The period (final time) t_f is free, i.e., determined by the nonlinear boundary condition.

The design parameters β and R_0 have to be determined in a way that the noise

$$J[\beta, R_0] = \frac{\omega^2}{(2\pi f_m)^2} \frac{1}{t_f} \int_0^{t_f} v^T(t) G(t) \Gamma(t) G^T(t) v(t) dt$$
(2.65)

is minimized. Here, we consider

$$\Gamma(t) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \text{ and } G(t) = \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{K(t)} & 0 \\ 0 & \sqrt{K(t)} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.66)

with

$$K(t) = \exp\left(x_1^2(t) + x_2^2(t)\right).$$
(2.67)

Therefore the objective is equivalent to

$$J[\beta, R_0] = \frac{\omega^2}{(2\pi f_m)^2} \frac{1}{t_f} \int_0^{t_f} K(t) \left(v_1^2(t) + v_2^2(t) \right) dt.$$
(2.68)

The solution has been given explicitly by Anzill (see [1, 39])

$$\beta = 0, \qquad x_2(t) = R_0 \sin(\omega t), R_0 = 1, \qquad v_1(t) = ((\beta R_0 / \gamma) \cos(\omega t) - \sin(\omega t)) / (R_0 \omega), \qquad (2.69) x_1(t) = R_0 \cos(\omega t), \qquad v_2(t) = ((\beta R_0 / \gamma) \sin(\omega t) + \cos(\omega t)) / (R_0 \omega).$$

The period is $t_f = 2\pi/\omega$.

For the computations, we use the following constants

$$f_m = 1, \quad \omega = 2\pi, \quad \gamma = 1.$$
 (2.70)

In this case, the minimum objective value is $J = e^1/(2\pi)^2 = 0.068854883...$, and the final time is $t_f = 1$.

2.6.2 oscillator: the standard formulation

The problem has one phase, i. e., $m_1 = 1$, $[E_1, E_2] = [0, t_f]$. The state variables and control parameters are

$$x = \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \\ x_4 \\ x_5 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ v_1 \\ v_2 \\ \int_0^t K(\tau) \left(v_1^2(\tau) + v_2^2(\tau) \right) \, \mathrm{d}\tau \end{pmatrix}, \quad p = \begin{pmatrix} p_1 \\ p_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \beta \\ R_0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.71)

DIRCOL-2.1 User's Guide

There are no control variables, i. e., $l_U = 0$.

The objective according to Section 1.2.1 is

$$\Phi = \Phi_{1}
where \Phi_{1} = \frac{\omega^{2}}{(2\pi f_{m})^{2}} x_{5}(t_{f})/t_{f}.$$
(2.72)

According to Section 1.2.2, the right hand side of the differential equations reads as

$$f^{1} = \begin{pmatrix} f_{1}^{1} \\ f_{2}^{1} \\ f_{3}^{1} \\ f_{4}^{1} \\ f_{5}^{1} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \dot{x}_{1} \\ \dot{x}_{2} \\ \dot{v}_{1} \\ \dot{v}_{2} \\ K(t) \left(x_{3}^{2}(t) + x_{4}^{2}(t) \right) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.73)$$

where $\dot{x}_1, \dot{x}_2, \dot{v}_1, \dot{v}_2$ have to be replaced by the expressions for their right hand sides.

The conditions at the initial time $t_0 = 0$ and final time t_f consist of explicit conditions of the first kind according to Equation (1.10) of Section 1.2.3.1

$$\begin{array}{rcl} x_2(t_0) &=& 0, \\ x_5(t_0) &=& 0, \end{array} \tag{2.74}$$

explicit conditions of the second kind according to Equation (1.11) of Section 1.2.3.1

$$\begin{aligned} x_1(t_f) &= R_{x,1}^1(.) &= x_1(t_0), \\ x_2(t_f) &= R_{x,2}^1(.) &= x_2(t_0), \\ x_3(t_f) &= R_{x,3}^1(.) &= x_3(t_0), \end{aligned}$$
 (2.75)

and one implicit condition according to Equation (1.13) of Section 1.2.3.2

$$r_1^1(x(t_0), u(t_0), p, t_0, x(t_f), u(t_f), t_f) = 1 - x_3(0) \cdot f_1^1(x(0), p) - x_4(0) \cdot f_2^1(x(0), p) = 0.$$
(2.76)

As the upper and lower bounds of Section 1.2.4.1 we use

1st phase:
$$t \in [E_1, E_2]$$
, $-10 = x_{1,\min}^1 \leq x_1(t) \leq x_{1,\max}^1 = +10$,
 $-10 = x_{2,\min}^1 \leq x_2(t) \leq x_{2,\max}^1 = +10$,
 $-10 = x_{3,\min}^1 \leq x_3(t) \leq x_{3,\max}^1 = +10$,
 $-10 = x_{4,\min}^1 \leq x_4(t) \leq x_{4,\max}^1 = +10$,
 $0 = x_{5,\min}^1 \leq x_5(t) \leq x_{5,\max}^1 = +10^{10}$,
(2.77)

and for the control parameters and event

$$\begin{array}{rclcrcrcrcrcrc}
-10^{-2} &=& p_{1,\min} &\leq& p_1 &\leq& p_{1,\max} &=& +10^{-2}, \\
10^{-5} &=& p_{2,\min} &\leq& p_2 &\leq& p_{2,\max} &=& +10^{10}, \\
10^{-3} &=& E_{2,\min} &\leq& E_2 &\leq& E_{2,\max} &=& +10^{10}.
\end{array}$$
(2.78)

Nonlinear inequality or equality constraints as described in Sections 1.2.4 and 1.2.5 do not appear in this problem. Therefore the dimensions according to Section 1.2 are

n_{\perp}	X	l_U	l_P	m_1	$n_{g,nln,1}$	$n_{h,nln,1}$	$n_{r,nln,1}$
5)	0	2	1	0	0	1

New!

2.7 Optimal path tracking for a simple robot

This problem has been suggested to the author by W. Miksch and has been described in Section 6.4 of [39]. The use of **DIRCOL** for optimal control of a real mobile manipulator with five degrees of freedom is described in [29].

2.7.1 Problem description

The endeffector of a robot with two rotational joints and simplified equations of motion has to move along a prescribed path with constant velocity. In each joint, there is a motor which can be controlled. The prescribed reference path includes a nonsmooth corner where the reference velocity is discontinuous. Therefore, an error must occur when the robot tries to track this path with constant, non-zero velocity. The overall tracking error has to be minimized.

The second order equations of motion and the initial and final values for position and velocity of the robot are

$$\ddot{q}_1(t) = u_1(t), \quad q_1(0) = 0, \quad \dot{q}_1(0) = 0.5, \quad q_1(2) = 0.5, \quad \dot{q}_1(2) = 0, \\ \ddot{q}_2(t) = u_2(t), \quad q_2(0) = 0, \quad \dot{q}_2(0) = 0, \quad q_2(2) = 0.5, \quad \dot{q}_2(2) = 0.5.$$
(2.79)

The objective to be minimized is the sum of errors in the tracking of the reference path

$$J[u] := \int_{0}^{2} L(q(t), \dot{q}(t)) \, \mathrm{d}t := \int_{0}^{2} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \omega_{i} (q_{i}(t) - q_{i,\mathrm{ref}}(t))^{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{2} \omega_{2+i} (\dot{q}_{i}(t) - \dot{q}_{i,\mathrm{ref}}(t))^{2} \, \mathrm{d}t$$
(2.80)

with constant, non-negative, real weighting factors ω_i , i = 1, 2, 3, 4. Here, we choose $\omega_1 = \omega_2 = 100$ and $\omega_3 = \omega_4 = 500$. As reference path we use

$$\begin{aligned} q_{1,\mathrm{ref}}(t) &= \begin{cases} t/2, & 0 \le t \le 1, \\ 1/2, & 1 < t \le 2, \end{cases} \quad q_{2,\mathrm{ref}}(t) &= \begin{cases} 0, & 0 \le t \le 1, \\ (t-1)/2, & 1 < t \le 2, \end{cases} \\ \dot{q}_{1,\mathrm{ref}}(t) &= \begin{cases} 1/2, & 0 \le t \le 1, \\ 0, & 1 < t \le 2, \end{cases} \quad \dot{q}_{2,\mathrm{ref}}(t) &= \begin{cases} 0, & 0 \le t \le 1, \\ (t-1)/2, & 1 < t \le 2, \end{cases} \\ 0, & 0 \le t \le 1, \\ 1/2, & 1 < t \le 2. \end{cases} \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.81)$$

2.7.2 robot_i2: the standard formulation

The problem consists of a single phase with a fixed final time: $m_1 = 1$, $[E_1, E_2] = [t_0, t_f] = [0, 2]$.

The state and control variables are

$$x = \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \\ x_4 \\ x_5 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} q_1 \\ q_2 \\ \dot{q}_1 \\ \dot{q}_2 \\ \int_0^t L(q(\tau), \dot{q}(\tau)) \, \mathrm{d}\tau \end{pmatrix}, \quad u = \begin{pmatrix} u_1 \\ u_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.82)

The objective according to Section 1.2.1 is

$$\Phi = \Phi_1$$
where $\Phi_1 = x_5(t_f).$
(2.83)



According to Section 1.2.2, the right hand side of the differential equations reads as

$$f^{1} = \begin{pmatrix} f_{1}^{1} \\ f_{2}^{1} \\ f_{3}^{1} \\ f_{4}^{1} \\ f_{5}^{1} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} x_{3} \\ x_{4} \\ u_{1} \\ u_{2} \\ L(x(t)) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.84)

The conditions at the initial time $t_0 = 0$ are explicit conditions of the first kind according to Equation (1.10) of Section 1.2.3.1

The conditions at the final time $t_f = 1$ are explicit conditions of the second kind according to Equation (1.11) of Section 1.2.3.1

$$\begin{array}{rcl} x_1(t_f) &=& R_{x,1}^1(.) &=& 0.5, \\ x_2(t_f) &=& R_{x,2}^1(.) &=& 0.5, \\ x_3(t_f) &=& R_{x,3}^1(.) &=& 0, \\ x_4(t_f) &=& R_{x,4}^1(.) &=& 0.5, \\ x_5(t_f) & \text{is free.} \end{array}$$

$$(2.86)$$

The state variables are unconstrained. For the control variables we use a bound of 10 for a maximum acceleration and deceleration. Therefore, as the upper and lower bounds of Section 1.2.4.1 one obtains in the

1st phase:
$$t \in [E_1, E_2]$$
, $-10^{10} = x_{1,\min}^1 \leq x_1(t) \leq x_{1,\max}^1 = +10^{10}$,
 $-10^{10} = x_{2,\min}^1 \leq x_2(t) \leq x_{2,\max}^1 = +10^{10}$,
 $-10^{10} = x_{3,\min}^1 \leq x_3(t) \leq x_{3,\max}^1 = +10^{10}$,
 $-10 = u_{1,\min}^1 \leq u_1(t) \leq u_{1,\max}^1 = +10$,
 $-10 = u_{2,\min}^1 \leq u_2(t) \leq u_{2,\max}^1 = +10$.
(2.87)

Control parameters do not appear in this problem, i. e., $l_P = 0$. The final time is fixed. Therefore, the lower and upper bounds for E_2 are

$$2 = E_{2,\min} \leq E_2 \leq E_{2,\max} = 2.$$
 (2.88)

Nonlinear inequality or equality constraints as described in Sections 1.2.4 and 1.2.5 do not appear in this problem. Also, there are no implicit boundary conditions of the form of Section 1.2.3.2.

Hence, the dimensions according to Section 1.2 are

n_X	l_U	l_P	m_1	$n_{g,nln,1}$	$n_{h,nln,1}$	$n_{r,nln,1}$
5	2	0	1	0	0	0

2.8 Abort landing in the presence of a windshear

"One of the most dangerous situations for a passenger aircraft in take-off and landing is caused by the presence of low-altitude windshears ... Even for a highly-skilled pilot, an inadvertent encounter with a windshear can be a fatal problem, since the aircraft might encounter a headwind followed by a tailwind, both coupled with a down draft ... the abort landing problem ... is a safer procedure than the penetration landing if the initial altitude is high enough" [8].

The following statement of the problem has been taken from [8], also the reference solution of the min-max problem which is included in the supplied files. The investigation of the problem was highly motivated by the previous work of [27, 28].



2.8.1 Problem description

Figure 2.7: History of the altitude h(t) of the passenger aircraft versus range x(t) (computed solutions of **DIRCOL** (-·-·-) and multiple shooting (_____)) [39].

The five state variables are the horizontal distance x, the altitude h, the relative velocity v, the relative path inclination γ , and the relative angle of attack α . The control variable $u = \dot{\alpha}$ is the time derivative of the angle of attack.

The total time of the flight manoeuvre considered is $t_f = 40$ s. The given values of the state variables at initial and final time are

> x(0)0[ft], $x(t_f)$ is free, = h(0)= 600[ft], $h(t_f)$ is free, v(0)239.7[ft/s], = $v(t_f)$ is free, (2.89)-0.03925[rad], 0.12969[rad], $\gamma(0)$ = $\gamma(t_f)$ = $\alpha(0)$ = 0.1283[rad], $\alpha(t_f)$ is free.

The objective to be maximized is the minimum altitude attained during the flight manoeuvre

$$J[u] = \min_{0 \le t \le t_f} h(t) \longrightarrow \max!$$
(2.90)

The equations of motion of the aircraft are

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{x} &= v \cos \gamma + W_1(x), \\ \dot{h} &= v \sin \gamma + W_2(x,h), \\ \dot{v} &= \frac{T(v)}{m} \cos(\alpha + \delta) - \frac{D(v,\alpha)}{m} - g \sin \gamma - \left(\dot{W}_1(x) \cos \gamma + \dot{W}_2(x,h) \sin \gamma\right), (2.91) \\ \dot{\gamma} &= \frac{T(v)}{mv} \sin(\alpha + \delta) + \frac{L(v,\alpha)}{mv} - \frac{g}{v} \cos \gamma + \frac{1}{v} \left(\dot{W}_1(x) \sin \gamma - \dot{W}_2(x,h) \cos \gamma\right), \\ \dot{\alpha} &= u. \end{aligned}$$

The thrust T is given by

$$T(v) = \beta(t)(A_0 + A_1v + A_2v^2) \quad \text{with} \quad \beta(t) = \begin{cases} \beta_0 + \dot{\beta}_0 t, & 0 \le t \le t_\beta, \\ 1, & t_\beta \le t \le t_f, \end{cases}$$
(2.92)

and

 $\beta_0 = 0.3825, \quad \dot{\beta}_0 = 0.2[\mathrm{s}^{-1}] \quad \mathrm{and} \quad t_\beta = (1-\beta_0)/\dot{\beta}_0 = 3.0875[\mathrm{s}].$ For the drag D holds

$$D(v, \alpha) = 0.5 C_{\rm D}$$

$$D(v, \alpha) = 0.5 C_D(\alpha) \rho S v^2$$
(2.93)
where $C_D(\alpha) = B_0 + B_1 \alpha + B_2 \alpha^2$,
 $\rho = 0.2203 \cdot 10^{-2} [\text{lb s}^2 \text{ft}^{-4}], \quad S = 0.1560 \cdot 10^4 [\text{ft}^2].$

The lift L is described by

$$L(v, \alpha) = 0.5 C_L(\alpha) \rho S v^2$$
(2.94)
where
$$C_L(\alpha) = \begin{cases} C_0 + C_1 \alpha, & \alpha \le \alpha_{\star}, \\ C_0 + C_1 \alpha + C_2 (\alpha - \alpha_{\star})^2, & \alpha_{\star} < \alpha \le \alpha_{\max}, \\ \alpha_{\star} = 12[\text{deg}] \doteq 0.20943951[\text{rad}], & \alpha_{\max} = 0.3002[\text{rad}]. \end{cases}$$

The windshear model, valid for $h \leq 1000 [{\rm ft}],$ is given by

$$W_{1}(x) = \begin{cases} -50 + ax^{3} + bx^{4}, & 0 \leq x < 500, \\ (x - 2300)/40, & 500 \leq x < 4100, \\ 50 - a(4600 - x)^{3} - b(4600 - x)^{4}, & 4100 \leq x \leq 4600, \\ 50, & 4600 \leq x, \end{cases}$$
(2.95)
$$W_{2}(x,h) = \frac{h}{1000} \cdot \begin{cases} (dx^{3} + ex^{4}), & 0 \leq x < 500, \\ (-51\exp(-c(x - 2300)^{4})), & 500 \leq x < 4100, \\ (d(4600 - x)^{3} + e(4600 - x)^{4}), & 4100 \leq x \leq 4600, \\ 0, & 4600 < x. \end{cases}$$

The constants are (cf. [8, 30])

$$\begin{array}{rcl} A_{0} & = & +0.4456 \cdot 10^{5} [\mathrm{lb}], & B_{0} & = & +0.15523333333, \\ A_{1} & = & -0.2398 \cdot 10^{2} [\mathrm{lb} \,\mathrm{s} \,\mathrm{ft}^{-1}], & B_{1} & = & +0.1236914764 [\mathrm{rad}^{-1}], \\ A_{2} & = & +0.1442 \cdot 10^{-1} [\mathrm{lb} \,\mathrm{s}^{2} \,\mathrm{ft}^{-2}], & B_{2} & = & +2.420265075 [\mathrm{rad}^{-2}], \\ C_{0} & = & +0.7125, & a & = & +6 \cdot 10^{-8} [\mathrm{s}^{-1} \mathrm{ft}^{-2}], \\ C_{1} & = & +6.087676573 [\mathrm{rad}^{-1}], & b & = & -4 \cdot 10^{-11} [\mathrm{s}^{-1} \mathrm{ft}^{-3}], \\ C_{2} & = & -9.027717451 [\mathrm{rad}^{-2}], & c & = & -\ln(25/30.6) \cdot 10^{-12} [\mathrm{ft}^{-4}], \\ d & = & -8.028808625 \cdot 10^{-8} [\mathrm{s}^{-1} \mathrm{ft}^{-2}], & e & = & +6.280834899 \cdot 10^{-11} [\mathrm{s}^{-1} \mathrm{ft}^{-3}], \\ g & = & +3.2172 \cdot 10^{1} [\mathrm{ft} \,\mathrm{s}^{-2}], & mg & = & 150000 [\mathrm{lb}], \\ \delta & = & 2 [\mathrm{deg}] \doteq 0.034906585 [\mathrm{rad}]. \end{array}$$



Figure 2.8: Horizontal and vertical components of the wind velocity.

The angle of attack and its time derivative are constrained by

$$|\alpha(t)| \leq \alpha_{\max} = 0.3002 [rad],$$
 (2.98)

$$|u(t)| \leq u_{\max} = 0.05236 [rad].$$
 (2.99)

In [8, 30]

$$p^* = \min\{h^*(t) : t \in [0, t_f]\} = 502.15627829[\text{ft}]$$
 (2.100)

has been computed for the objective.

2.8.2 windshear: the standard formulation

The problem has one phase, i. e., $m_1 = 1$, $[E_1, E_2] = [0, t_f] = [0, 40]$.

For transformation of the min-max problem into standard form with a Mayer-type objective one control parameter p_1 for the minimal altitude is introduced by (cf. Section 1.3.3)

$$p_1 := \min_{0 \le t \le t_f} h(t).$$
(2.101)

Then, an additional state constraint has to be taken into account

$$g_1^1(x, u, p, t) = x_2(t) - p_1 = h(t) - p_1 \ge 0, \quad 0 \le t \le t_f.$$
 (2.102)

The transformed objective to be minimized becomes

$$\hat{J}[u,p] = -p_1.$$
 (2.103)

The state variables, control variables, and control parameters are

$$x = \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \\ x_4 \\ x_5 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} x \\ h \\ v \\ \gamma \\ \alpha \end{pmatrix}, \quad u = \begin{pmatrix} u_1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad p = \begin{pmatrix} p_1 \end{pmatrix}. \quad (2.104)$$

The objective according to Section 1.2.1 is

$$\Phi = \Phi_1$$
where $\Phi_1 = -p_1.$
(2.105)

According to Section 1.2.2, the right hand side of the differential equations reads as

$$f^{1} = \begin{pmatrix} f_{1}^{1} \\ f_{2}^{1} \\ f_{3}^{1} \\ f_{4}^{1} \\ f_{5}^{1} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \dot{x} \\ \dot{h} \\ \dot{v} \\ \dot{\gamma} \\ u_{1} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.106)$$

where \dot{x} , h, \dot{v} , $\dot{\gamma}$ have to be replaced by the expressions for their right hand sides.

The conditions at the initial time $t_0 = 0$ and final time $t_f = 40$ consist of explicit conditions of the first kind according to Equation (1.10) of Section 1.2.3.1

$$\begin{array}{rcl} x_1(t_0) &=& 0, \\ x_2(t_0) &=& 600, \\ x_3(t_0) &=& 239.7, \\ x_4(t_0) &=& -0.03925, \\ x_5(t_0) &=& 0.1283, \end{array}$$
 (2.107)

and one explicit condition of the second kind according to Equation (1.11) of Section 1.2.3.1

$$x_4(t_f) = R_{x,4}^1(.) = 7.431 \cdot \pi/180 \doteq 0.1296942.$$
 (2.108)

New!! |

As the upper and lower bounds for the state and control variables of Section 1.2.4.1 we use

1st phase:
$$t \in [E_1, E_2]$$
, $0 = x_{1,\min}^1 \leq x_1(t) \leq x_{1,\max}^1 = +1.5 \cdot 10^4$,
 $+10^2 = x_{2,\min}^1 \leq x_2(t) \leq x_{2,\max}^1 = +1.5 \cdot 10^3$,
 $0 = x_{3,\min}^1 \leq x_3(t) \leq x_{3,\max}^1 = +10^{10}$,
 $-10^{10} = x_{4,\min}^1 \leq x_4(t) \leq x_{4,\max}^1 = +10^{10}$,
 $-\alpha_{\max} = x_{5,\min}^1 \leq x_5(t) \leq x_{5,\max}^1 = +\alpha_{\max}$,
 $-u_{\max} = u_{1,\min}^1 \leq u_1(t) \leq u_{1,\max}^1 = +u_{\max}$.
(2.109)

The state variable $x_4 = \gamma$ is an unconstrained angle but varies only within $[-\pi, +\pi]$. Therefore, the option for special treatment of angles is selected for x_4 in the input file DATDIM (cf. Section 4.2.1.1).

The lower and upper bounds for the control parameters and events are

$$\begin{array}{rclrcl} +10 & = & p_{1,\min} & \leq & p_{1} & \leq & p_{1,\max} & = & +10^{10}, \\ +40 & = & E_{2,\min} & \leq & E_{2} & \leq & E_{2,\max} & = & +40. \end{array}$$
 (2.110)

The inequality constraint of Equation (2.102) is formulated according to Section 1.2.4

1st phase:
$$t \in [E_1, E_2], \quad g_1^1(x, u, p, t) = x_2(t) - p_1 \ge 0.$$
 (2.111)

Nonlinear equality constraints as described in Section 1.2.5 do not appear in this problem. Therefore, the dimensions of this optimal control problem according to Section 1.2 are

n_X	l_U	l_P	m_1	$n_{g,nln,1}$	$n_{h,nln,1}$	$n_{r,nln,1}$
5	1	1	1	1	0	0

2.9 Optimal point-to-point trajectories of a 3-d.o.f. industrial robot

2.9.1 Minimum time trajectory: problem description

see [39, 41]

The subroutine R3M2SI is due to Otter and Türk [31]. It is included by friendly permission of Dr.-Ing. Martin Otter [32].

2.9.2 manutec_minimum_time: the standard formulation

2.9.3 Minimum energy trajectory: problem description

2.9.4 manutec_minimum_energy: the standard formulation

New!!

38

2.10 References to other successful applications of DIRCOL

In this section, a selection of references to successful applications of **DIRCOL** is given.

An optimal control problem in economics with four linear controls describing a sophisticated concern model is investigated by Koslik and Breitner [21]. The numerical solution is obtained by a combination of the direct collocation method **DIRCOL** and an indirect multiple shooting method for solving the necessary conditions from optimal control theory. The optimal controls have bang-bang subarcs as well as constrained and singular subarcs. Here, the highly complicated switching structure has been computed correctly using **DIRCOL**. Also, the computed estimates of adjoint variables and the computed histories of the switching functions have been estimated in an accuracy of four to five decimals. Thus, the subsequent solution of the necessary conditions from optimal control theory, i. e., the multi-point boundary value problem for the state and adjoint variables, has been facilitated enormously.

Zoelch [44, 45] applies **DIRCOL** successfully for optimizing and rating of the design of a hybrid driveline.

References

[1] Anzill, W.J.:

Berechnung und Optimierung des Phasenrauschens von Oszillatoren. Dissertation, Fakultät für Elektrotechnik und Informationstechnik, Technische Universität München (1994).

- [2] Anzill, W.; von Stryk, O.; Bulirsch, R.; Russer, P.: *Phase noise minimization of microwave oscillators by optimal design.* IEEE MTT-S Symposium Digest, Orlando, Florida, USA (1995) 1565-1568. World Wide Web: http://www.sim.informatik.tu-darmstadt.de/publ/
- [3] Bell, M.: *Robust Optimal Receding Horizon Control.* PhD thesis, Imperial College, University of London (1997).
- [4] Betts, J. T.: Survey of numerical methods for trajectory optimization. AIAA J. Guidance, Control, and Dynamics 21, 2 (1998) 193-207.
- [5] Bryson, A. E.; Denham, W. F.; Dreyfus, S. E.: Optimal programming problems with inequality constraints. I: Necessary conditions for extremal solutions. AIAA J. 1, 11 (1963) 2544-2550.
- [6] Bryson, A. E.; Ho, Y.-C.: Applied Optimal Control. Rev. Printing. (Hemisphere Publishing Corporation, New York, 1975).
- [7] Bulirsch, R.:

Die Mehrzielmethode zur numerischen Lösung von nichtlinearen Randwertproblemen und Aufgaben der optimalen Steuerung. Report of the Carl-Cranz-Gesellschaft e.V., DLR, Oberpfaffenhofen, Germany (1971). Reprints: Mathematisches Institut, Technische Universität München (1985,1993).

- [8] Bulirsch, R.; Montrone, F.; Pesch, H. J.: Abort landing in the presence of windshear as a minimax optimal control problem. Part 1: Necessary conditions.
 J. Optimization Theory and Applications **70** (1991) 1-23. Part 2: Multiple shooting and homotopy.
 J. Optimization Theory and Applications **70** (1991) 223-254.
- [9] Bulirsch, R.; Nerz, E.; Pesch, H. J.; von Stryk, O.: Combining direct and indirect Methods in optimal control: Range maximization of a hang glider.
 In: Bulirsch, R.; Miele, A.; Stoer, J.; Well, K. H. (eds.): Optimal Control — Calculus of Variations, Optimal Control Theory and Numerical Methods, International Series of Numerical Mathematics **111** (Basel: Birkhäuser, 1993) 273-288.
- [10] Fletcher, R.: Practical Methods of Optimization. 2nd ed. (J. Wiley, 1987).

[11] Gill, P. E.; Murray, W.; Saunders, M. A.: User's Guide for SNOPT 5.3: a Fortran Package for Large-Scale Nonlinear Programming.
Report NA 97-5, Department of Mathematics, University of California, San Diego (1997).
World Wide Web: http://sdna3.ucsd.edu/~peg/ Version 5.3-4. (November/December 1998).

See also: World Wide Web:

http://www-fp.mcs.anl.gov/otc/Guide/SoftwareGuide/Blurbs/sqopt_snopt.html

- [12] Gill, P. E.; Murray, W.; Saunders, M. A.; Wright, M. H.: User's Guide for NPSOL (Version 4.0).
 Report SOL 86-2. Department of Operations Research, Stanford University, California (1986).
 User's Guide for NPSOL (Version 5.0): a Fortran package for nonlinear programming. Numerical Analysis Report 98-2, Department of Mathematics, University of California, San Diego (1998).
 See also: World Wide Web: http://www-fp.mcs.anl.gov/otc/Guide/SoftwareGuide/Blurbs/npsol.html
- [13] Gill, P. E.; Murray, W.; Wright, M. H.: Practical Optimization. (Academic Press, 1981).
- [14] Gill, P. E.; Murray, W.; Saunders, M. A.; M. H. Wright: Sequential quadratic programming methods for nonlinear programming. In NATO ASI Series, Vol. F9, Computer Aided Analysis and Optimization of Mechanical System Dynamics. Ed. by E. J. Haug (Springer, 1984) 679-700.
- [15] Gill, P. E.; Murray, W.; Saunders, M. A.; Wright, M. H.: Some theoretical properties of an augmented Lagrangian merit function.
 In: P. M. Pardalos (ed.): Advances in Optimization and Parallel Computing (Elsevier Science Publishers, 1992) 101-128.
- [16] Gunn, D.J.; Thomas, W.J.: Mass transport and chemical reaction in multifunctional catalyst systems. Chem. Eng. Sci. 20 (1965) 89-100.
- [17] Hargraves, C. R.: Numerical computation of optimal atmospheric vehicles involving staged vehicles. AIAA Paper 82-0360 (1982).
- [18] Hargraves, C. R.; Paris, S. W.: Direct trajectory optimization using nonlinear programming and collocation. AIAA Journal of Guidance 10, 4 (1987) 338-342.
- [19] Heim, A.:
 Parameteridentifizierung in differential-algebraischen Gleichungssystemen.
 Diploma thesis, Department of Mathematics, Technische Universität München (1992).

- [20] Heim, A.; von Stryk, O.: Documentation of PAREST — A multiple shooting code for optimization problems in differential-algebraic equations. Report TUM-M9616, Mathematisches Institut, Technische Universität München (1996) 31 p. World Wide Web: http://www-lit.mathematik.tu-muenchen.de/veroeff/html/960.49001.html
- [21] Koslik, B.; Breitner, M. H.: An optimal control problem in Economics with four linear controls. J. Optimization Theory and Applications 94, 3 (1997) 619-634.
- [22] Koslik, B.; Rill, G.; von Stryk, O.; Zampieri, D.: Active suspension design for a tractor by optimal control methods. Preprint SFB-438-9801, Sonderforschungsbereich 438, Technische Universität München – Universität Augsburg (1998) 23 p. World Wide Web: http://www-lit.mathematik.tu-muenchen.de/veroeff/html/SFB/982.49003.html
- [23] Kraft, D.:

On converting optimal control problems into nonlinear programming codes. In NATO ASI Series, Vol. F15, Computational Mathematical Programming. Ed. by K. Schittkowski (Springer, 1985) 261-280.

[24] Kronseder, T.:

Optimal Control of Chemical Engineering Processes. Diplomarbeit, Zentrum Mathematik, Technische Universität München (1998).

[25] Logsdon, E.M.:

Efficient Determination of Optimal Control Profiles for Differential-Algebraic Systems.

PhD thesis, Carnegie Mellon University (1990).

- [26] Das LRZ-Graphiksystem. Benutzer-Manual:
 - (a) Weidner, K.: *Teil I: Grundsoftware.* LRZ-Benutzerschrift Nr. 7708/12 (1992).
 - (b) Reinsch, C.; Apostolescu, V.; Weidner, K.: *Teil II: Anwendungsprogramme.* LRZ-Benutzerschrift Nr. 7710/10 (1991).
 - (c) Apostolescu, V.; Weidner, K.: Teil III: "Previewing" am Sichtgerät. LRZ-Benutzerschrift Nr. 7904/5 (1986).
- [27] Miele, A.; Wang, T.; Melvin, W. W.: Optimal abort landing trajectories in the presence of windshear. J. Optimization Theory and Applications 55 (1987) 165-202.

- [28] Miele, A.; Wang, T.; Melvin, W. W.: Quasi-steady flight to quasi-steady flight transition for abort landing in a windshear: trajectory optimization and guidance. J. Optimization Theory and Applications 58 (1988) 165-207. [29] Miksch, W.: Ein Konzept zur optimalen Steuerung und Regelung von mobilen Manipulatoren. Fortschritt-Berichte VDI, Reihe 8, Nr. 569 (Düsseldorf: VDI-Verlag, 1996). [30] Montrone, F.: Berechnung der optimalen Steuerung einer Boeing 727 beim Auftreten eines Scherwindes. Diploma Thesis, Mathematisches Institut, Technische Universität München (1989). [31] Otter, M.; Türk, S.: The DFVLR Models 1 and 2 of the Manutec r3 Robot. Report DFVLR-Mitteilung 88-13, Institute for Robotics and System Dynamics, German Aerospace Research Establishment (DLR), Oberpfaffenhofen, Germany (1988). [32] Otter, M.: Private communication. (1998). [33] Schittkowski, K.: The nonlinear programming method of Wilson, Han and Powell with an augmented Lagrangian type line search function. Part 1: Convergence analysis. Numer. Math. 38 (1981) 83-114. Part 2: An efficient implementation with linear least squares subproblems. Numer. Math. 38 (1981) 115-127. [34] Simeon, B.; Führer, C.; Rentrop, P.: Differential-algebraic equations in vehicle system dynamics. Surv. Math. Ind. 1 (1991) 1-37. [35] Stoer, J.: Principles of Sequential Quadratic Programming methods for solving nonlinear programs. In NATO ASI Series, Vol. F15, Computational Mathematical Programming. Ed. by K. Schittkowski (Springer, 1985) 165-207. [36] Stoer, J.; Bulirsch, R.: Einführung in die Numerische Mathematik II. 3. erw. Auflage (Springer, 1990). Introduction to Numerical Analysis. 2nd ed. (Springer, 1993).
- [37] von Stryk, O.:

Ein direktes Verfahren zur Bahnoptimierung von Luft- und Raumfahrzeugen unter Berücksichtigung von Beschränkungen. Z. angew. Math. Mech. **71**, 6 (1991) T705-T706.

[38] von Stryk, O.:

Numerical solution of optimal control problems by direct collocation. In: Bulirsch, R.; Miele, A.; Stoer, J.; Well, K. H. (eds.): Optimal Control — Calculus of Variations, Optimal Control Theory and Numerical Methods, International Series of Numerical Mathematics **111** (Basel: Birkhäuser, 1993) 129-143. World Wide Web: http://www.sim.informatik.tu-darmstadt.de/publ/

[39] von Stryk, O.:

Numerische Lösung optimaler Steuerungsprobleme: Diskretisierung, Parameteroptimierung und Berechnung der adjungierten Variablen. Fortschritt-Berichte VDI, Reihe 8, Nr. 441 (Düsseldorf: VDI-Verlag, 1995) 158 p. World Wide Web: http://www.sim.informatik.tu-darmstadt.de/publ/

- [40] von Stryk, O.; Bulirsch, R.: Direct and indirect methods for trajectory optimization. Annals of Operations Research 37 (1992) 357-373.
- [41] von Stryk, O.; Schlemmer, M.: Optimal control of the industrial robot Manutec r3.
 In: Bulirsch, R.; Kraft, D. (eds.): Computational Optimal Control, International Series of Numerical Mathematics 115 (Basel: Birkhäuser, 1994) 367-382.
 World Wide Web: http://www.sim.informatik.tu-darmstadt.de/publ/
- [42] Vassiliadis, V.S.:
 Computational Solution of Dynamic Optimization Problems with General Differential-Algebraic Constraints.
 PhD thesis, Imperial College, University of London (1993).
 - [43] Williams, T.; Kelley, C.: *GNUPLOT — An interactive plotting program.* Manual for Version 3.5, distributed with the software (1993). World Wide Web: http://www.cs.dartmouth.edu/gnuplot_info.html
 - [44] Zoelch, U.: Ein Beitrag zu optimaler Auslegung und Betrieb von Hybridfahrzeugen. Dissertation, Technische Universität München (1998).
 - [45] Zoelch, U.; Schröder, D.: Dynamic optimization method for design and rating of the components of a hybrid vehicle. Int. Journal of Vehicle Design 19, 1 (1998) 1-13.